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          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Welcome,

          3  everyone, and thank you for waiting through that

          4  delay. The drum solo is over and much quieter than

          5  we anticipated.

          6                 Let me welcome you here today to our

          7  hearing of the Public Safety Committee. We thank

          8  Council Member Reyna for being here, and I just saw

          9  Council Member Katz. Council Member Reyna is not

         10  even a member of the Public Safety Committee but

         11  thought that this hearing was so important that she

         12  stopped by. Thank you.

         13                 One of the 9/11 Commission made some

         14  recommendations for some preparedness. And one of

         15  them, they said that the private sector remains

         16  largely unprepared for terrorist attack. The

         17  Commission indicated that ignoring private security

         18  preparedness may result in a tremendous potential

         19  cost in lives, money and national security.

         20                 In this City, most of our landmarked

         21  buildings and venues, places like the Empire State

         22  Building, Rockefeller Center, Lincoln Center, the

         23  Citicorp Building, those places are guarded by

         24  private security guards.

         25                 As recently revealed by a review of
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          2  security companies conducted by the Department of

          3  State, the agency charged with overseeing security

          4  companies, serious gaps in private security exist.

          5  For example, of the 868 companies the State audited,

          6  more than half were referred for disciplinary

          7  action. Five had violations so severe that they had

          8  their licenses revoked and $3 million in fines were

          9  levied against 200 other companies.

         10                 One of the recurring violations were

         11  that security companies had hired individuals with a

         12  criminal background. One company, for example, was

         13  fined more than $150,000 for employing dozens of ex-

         14  cons with criminal histories of robbery, assault,

         15  drug and weapons possession. Another company had its

         16  license revoked for violations including hiring

         17  guards with convictions for rape, burglary, assault

         18  and weapons charges.

         19                 Although State law requires security

         20  guards to meet certain minimum requirements and it

         21  mandates a security guard company check that these

         22  requirements are met, much needs to be improved.

         23  This situation is not tolerable. Particularly in

         24  light of the threat of terrorism we face. I believe,

         25  for example, that a national fingerprint background
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          2  check needs to be done. You can have a security

          3  guard in New York State, who's convicted of rape or

          4  murder in New Jersey, working right here in our

          5  City. That is just not accepted.

          6                 When initially adopted, in fact, the

          7  Security Guard Act in 1992, included a national

          8  check, but for some reason, in 1994 it was changed

          9  to require only a State check. Training of security

         10  guards needs to be revamped and increased with the

         11  State mandated curriculum of more than the current

         12  16 on the job training hours. If, for example, a

         13  security guard is charged with detecting bombs and

         14  cars that enter in a garage, then specialized

         15  training in detecting bombs should be required. It

         16  is not right now.

         17                 For those reasons, I introduce

         18  Resolution 569 which calls on the State legislature

         19  to allow municipalities to adopt more stringent

         20  requirements for security guards that work in their

         21  communities. As most of you know, once the State

         22  acts in the area, we're preempted and they have

         23  acted in these areas. We're asking the State to

         24  change, fix it or let us do it ourselves and we'll

         25  do it.
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          2                 To its credit, SEIU 32BJ, recognizes

          3  these problems and partnered with the Police

          4  Department, the Real Estate Board of New York and

          5  the New York City Partnership to produce a program

          6  called New York Safe and Secure. This program is an

          7  innovative labor management security training

          8  program that is designed to help the City safer by

          9  developing a more professional private security

         10  industry. It includes a 40 hour security training

         11  program for 55,000 building service workers and

         12  residential and commercial buildings and a security

         13  awareness course for 28,000 residential workers and

         14  25,000 commercial cleaning and maintenance workers.

         15                 Security of our City is too important

         16  to allow private security companies that do not

         17  conform with State law to continue to operate. It's

         18  also important that State standards for security

         19  guards be increased and if Albany will not act, then

         20  the State legislature should allow the City to act

         21  its own tougher requirements. We need national

         22  background checks. We need uniform standards here in

         23  New York City.

         24                 Today, we'll explore these issues

         25  regarding the private security initiative with the

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Police Department, 32BJ, members of the Business

          3  Community and others. I'm happy now to welcome the

          4  Police Department who has been outstanding in this

          5  area for reaching out and working with the unions

          6  and working with the private companies, working with

          7  the City Council to do what you can to increase our

          8  awareness and to partner with our private security

          9  companies to protect the citizens of New York City.

         10  Thank you for coming in today. We have with us,

         11  Deputy Inspector Michael O'Neil, who is the Chief of

         12  Counter Terrorism Division. With him is Lt. Jessica

         13  Corey, Lt. John Rowland, and Lt. Christopher

         14  Higgins. Gentlemen and ladies, thank you for coming

         15  down today. The floor is yours.

         16                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Thank you.

         17  Good morning, Mr. Chairman and members of the

         18  Council. I am Deputy Inspector, Michael O'Neil,

         19  Commanding Officer of the New York City Police

         20  Department's Counter Terrorism Division and I'm

         21  joined by Lt. Jessica Corey, Commanding Officer of

         22  the Crime Prevention Section; Lt. John Rowland,

         23  Supervisor of Counter Terrorism Training and Lt.

         24  Chris Higgins, Commanding Officer, Terrorist

         25  Incident Prevention Unit of the Intelligence
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          2  Division.

          3                 We appreciate the opportunity to be

          4  here on behalf of Police Commissioner Raymond Kelly

          5  to discuss with you the partnership between the New

          6  York City Police Department and the City's private

          7  security community, including specifically our

          8  mutual counter terrorism efforts. In 2002,

          9  Commissioner Kelly enhanced the Police Department's

         10  ability to fight terrorism by establishing two new

         11  executive positions, Deputy Commissioner for Counter

         12  Terrorism and Deputy Commissioner for Intelligence,

         13  which are supported by approximately 1,000 police

         14  officers performing counter terrorism functions.

         15  Their mission includes not only the investigation of

         16  possible terrorist threats and the apprehension of

         17  terrorist criminals, but also the prevention of

         18  terrorist attack. A critical component of this

         19  mission is to raise awareness, both for the general

         20  public and for the business entities particularly

         21  involved in this issue; such as private security

         22  personnel and the owners and staff of potentially

         23  vulnerable locations.

         24                 I will be pleased to describe for you

         25  the Department's efforts to reach a wide variety of
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          2  community groups and business entities in New York

          3  City, and to provide counter terrorism awareness

          4  training utilizing many different resources within

          5  the Police Department, targeted to the particular

          6  need of the audience.

          7                 In designing a mechanism for

          8  increasing counter terrorism awareness within the

          9  private security community, the Department was

         10  fortunate in having already established in 1986, the

         11  Area Police/Private Security Liaison program known

         12  as APPL, which is coordinated by Lt. Corey. From an

         13  original roster of 30 member organizations, the APPL

         14  membership has expanded to over 1,300 organizations.

         15  APPL's mailing list also includes government

         16  agencies, other police departments in the

         17  metropolitan area, the Federal Department of

         18  Homeland Security and the State Office of Homeland

         19  Security.

         20                 The goal of APPL is to share

         21  information with directors of private security

         22  throughout the City, which may include corporate

         23  directors of security employing their own security

         24  guards as well as directors of security guard

         25  companies. APPL liaison personnel routinely consult
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          2  with the Counter Terrorism Bureau and the

          3  Intelligence Division among other Department

          4  commands to provide information to APPL membership,

          5  so that they may further disseminate this

          6  information to their executive staff and employees.

          7  APPL provides immediate communication through an e-

          8  mail network, advising members of information and

          9  events which may be of concern.

         10                 For example, immediate notice was

         11  sent to APPL membership when manhole explosions

         12  occurred on West 38th Street last month, to advise

         13  the membership of what happened and that the event

         14  was not a terrorist attack. APPL also coordinates

         15  regular meetings between its membership and Police

         16  Department staff to address emerging issues and

         17  provides an APPL liaison in each patrol borough and

         18  in midtown Manhattan precincts to encourage frequent

         19  mutual contact.

         20                 This already existing partnership

         21  with the private security community enabled the

         22  Counter Terrorism Division, working with the

         23  Intelligence Division, the Deputy Commissioner

         24  Community Affairs, and the APPL Coordinator to

         25  develop a comprehensive counter terrorism awareness
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          2  training package. We solicited the input of private

          3  volunteers to help us direct our presentation

          4  efforts and tailor them to the needs of the

          5  different types of groups. We now have the

          6  capability to vary training in terms of time and

          7  content so issues of greater interests to the

          8  particular group receive more attention.

          9                 The content of our counter terrorism

         10  awareness training generally focuses on how members

         11  of the particular audience can assist the Police

         12  Department in detecting terrorist threats and how

         13  they should respond to suspicious behavior. In

         14  essence, we provide background information regarding

         15  the nature of terrorist threats and organizations,

         16  describe the behaviors, tools and weapons associated

         17  with terrorist criminals; suggest how to sharpen

         18  powers of observation so that details about a threat

         19  may be reported more accurately; provide guidance

         20  about how to prepare for or respond to a terrorist

         21  attack and most important, direct the individual not

         22  to take action themselves but to contact 911 in an

         23  emergency or the Counter Terrorism Hotline at 1-

         24  888- NYC- SAFE. We note that anyone dialing 311 with

         25  information regarding suspected terrorist activity,
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          2  will immediately be transferred to the hotline.

          3                 However, our counter terrorism

          4  outreach efforts do not only include security

          5  personnel. We will provide awareness training to any

          6  group or business entity which makes a written

          7  request, and we will attempt to address their

          8  particular needs and interests. Since February of

          9  2002, Counter Terrorism Division personnel have made

         10  presentations to over 10,000 individuals in groups

         11  large and small, as diverse as multinational

         12  corporations, elected officials, CUNY and other

         13  universities, hospitals, real estate owners and

         14  managers, community groups, and religious

         15  organizations. Likewise, the Crime Prevention

         16  Section addresses diverse business and community

         17  groups, discussing a wide range of issues including

         18  terrorism awareness.

         19                 We also note that beyond training,

         20  the Department will readily provide crime prevention

         21  security surveys and/or counter terrorism threat

         22  assessments as needed and requested. Another aspect

         23  of our counter terrorism awareness outreach is led

         24  by the Intelligence Division, utilizing what is

         25  known as Operation Nexus. Intelligence Division
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          2  personnel identify businesses or entities which may

          3  be the target of terrorist activity as a source of

          4  necessary material or services. Examples include

          5  every kind of business providing tools or services

          6  which a terrorist might seek: Ambulance companies,

          7  chemical manufacturers, driving schools, hardware

          8  stores, gun shops, hotels, parking garages, photo

          9  processing stores, plastic surgeons, property

         10  managers including building superintendents and door

         11  attendants, realtors, scuba shops, shooting ranges

         12  and uniform equipment/Army- Navy stores.

         13                 They then visit the location,

         14  providing a package of information which includes a

         15  poster reminding the staff about the 1- 888- NYC-

         16  SAFE hotline as well as guidance about potential

         17  terrorist techniques and goals, including what

         18  behaviors to watch for, tailored to the type of

         19  business. They also visit locations outside of New

         20  York City and attend industry conventions of

         21  entities whose resources might be sought to assist

         22  an attack on New York. This one- on- one contact

         23  with businesses provides the business an

         24  identifiable person in the Intelligence Division to

         25  call for help or further guidance. It encourages a
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          2  new level of awareness which helps to alert

          3  businesses to potential threats. The Intelligence

          4  Division also makes referrals of appropriate

          5  businesses to APPL or the Crime Prevention Section

          6  for follow- up contact. Since July of 2002,

          7  Intelligence Division personnel have visited over

          8  20,000 such locations.

          9                 The Department's awareness training

         10  also includes outreach to the general public through

         11  the office of the Deputy Commissioner of Community

         12  Affairs. Working with counter terrorism personnel,

         13  the Deputy Commissioner of Community Affairs

         14  developed a counter terrorism awareness presentation

         15  utilized by Community Affairs officers throughout

         16  the City to conduct public education on a routine

         17  basis. They utilize all the resources of that

         18  office, such as the Clergy Liaison Program, the

         19  Civilian Police Academy, and the Precinct Community

         20  Counsels, to tell the community what the Department

         21  is doing to fight terrorism to encourage members of

         22  the public to be alert to possible suspicious

         23  activity and to contact the hotline.

         24                 The Officer of Deputy Commissioner of

         25  Community Affairs has addressed counter terrorism
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          2  awareness with over 25,000 members of the public

          3  since July 2002. The Deputy Commissioner of

          4  Community Affairs also reaches out to the public

          5  through an e- mail/fax notification system called

          6  the Community Affairs Resource and Education System

          7  (NYPD CARES), which is used to keep individuals and

          8  organizations informed of important information and

          9  upcoming events regarding public safety, quality of

         10  life, and police community relations, as well as to

         11  request the public's assistance with specific police

         12  related matters. This provides an efficient

         13  mechanism for immediate public contact.

         14                 We have been advised that you have

         15  expressed particular interest in a program operated

         16  by SEIU Local 32BJ, called New York Safe and Secure.

         17  Although the Police Department is not directly

         18  involved in the program, it was developed after

         19  Local 32BJ conferred with the Counter Terrorism

         20  Bureau in 2002 and developed its own curriculum

         21  tailored to the needs and functions of its members.

         22  However, Local 32BJ has engaged several police

         23  officers who are instructors at the Police Academy

         24  to teach the course as off- duty employment. We

         25  welcome the additional information this program
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          2  provides to the members of Local 32BJ. We would like

          3  to note again that the Police Department's counter

          4  terrorism awareness training is available free of

          5  charge to any organization which requests our

          6  assistance, including unions and residential or

          7  commercial building staff.

          8                 In conclusion, our goal in reaching

          9  out to the private sectors as we have described is

         10  to maximize the number of people in New York City

         11  who can act as additional eyes and ears, better

         12  prepared to detect suspected terrorist activity and

         13  inform us immediately. We hope through our awareness

         14  training to dispel myths as well as educate the

         15  public, empowering the people of New York City with

         16  the knowledge to better protect themselves and

         17  assist us in fighting terrorism. As you can also

         18  see, the Police Department's varied commands work

         19  together seamlessly to accomplish this goal,

         20  updating our training and outreach constantly to

         21  reflect evolving information and situations.

         22                 Thank you for this opportunity to

         23  discuss our partnership with the public in fighting

         24  terrorism and we would be pleased to answer any

         25  questions you may have.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. Let

          3  me first welcome some of the Council Members that

          4  have joined us. Council Member Phil Reed, Chair of

          5  our Consumers Affairs Committee and Council Member

          6  Gonzalez who is chair of this committee,

          7  subcommittee on Juvenile Justice and I think I

          8  already introduced Council Members Katz and Reyna.

          9                 Let me commend you again about the

         10  work you've done in this regard. It's very rare that

         11  our businesses and unions as large and respected as

         12  32BJ all agree that the Police Department is doing

         13  an excellent job in any one area. If you come back

         14  into the room at 1:00 for our public and protest

         15  hearing, you'll see what usually happens to the

         16  Police Department when they sit over there. This is

         17  very rare. You must be doing something right. You

         18  discussed the training that you now provide for

         19  private security guards, the counter terrorist

         20  awareness training.

         21                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Can you describe

         23  that in a little more detail?

         24                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: It depends

         25  on the targeted audience. We have over 42 modules
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          2  instruction that we develop at the Counter Terrorism

          3  Bureau over the last three years that are updated

          4  constantly. If we're approached about a training

          5  request depending on the targeted audience, we piece

          6  those modules of instruction together for the

          7  training costs. But examples include identification

          8  of explosive devices, documentation, behavior

          9  indicators of terrorists.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Who's eligible

         11  for this training?

         12                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Anybody that

         13  submits a written request, we'll evaluate it. We'll

         14  see what the best cost of action is to deliver the

         15  training. Whether it's a force multiplier as in

         16  train to trainer; something that we explored with

         17  SEIU or if it's a small organization of 100 to 200

         18  people, depending on the department's needs at the

         19  time, we can do the training ourselves.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Now, this

         21  training is obviously something that we all approve

         22  of. The problem that I see is the training at the

         23  NYPD provides is in no way mandated by the State. Is

         24  that correct?

         25                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Right.
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          2  That's correct.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Do you believe

          4  that the training such as you provide should be

          5  mandated?

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: I can't

          7  comment on specific mandates. However, what I can

          8  say is any additional training in the area of

          9  counter terrorism awareness or security in general

         10  with a qualified program, with a qualified

         11  instructor is a good thing for the security of the

         12  City.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We agree with

         14  that. Are there any other improvements as an expert

         15  in this area, that you would suggest in the area of

         16  training our private security guards?

         17                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: I just think

         18  we need to work on what we're building on now. Good

         19  training programs, flows of information to the

         20  people that need it. They are our first line of

         21  defense and we need to make sure that they are

         22  informed as our police officers are.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Currently as you

         24  are well aware, private security in New York State

         25  are only subject to State wide fingerprint checks.
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          2  Do you feel this adequate or do you believe that we

          3  should have national wide fingerprint checks?

          4                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Again, I

          5  can't comment on national wide fingerprint checks.

          6  Here is what I will say though --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'm confused as

          8  to why you can't comment on that.

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: If it's a

         10  process -- well, here's what I'll say. If it's a

         11  process that can be undertaken without saddling any

         12  particular law enforcement agency, I think it's

         13  merited. I think it's worth looking into. It's

         14  simply put, we don't want to put a bad guy in charge

         15  of protecting of what we feel is critical

         16  infrastructure throughout the City.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think that's

         18  as simply as we can put it. You're absolutely right.

         19  Talk to us a little bit about collaborative efforts

         20  you have with private security. Such as, for

         21  example, the recent threat to the Citicorp Building

         22  in Queens. I was there a few days after it happened.

         23  I saw private security guards working right next to

         24  the NYPD. How does that happen under the worst

         25  circumstances? Explain that to us.
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          2                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: I'll give

          3  you example. That threat in particular will reach

          4  out to Jessica and the APPL unit, get hold of the

          5  Security Director's, brief them on the information

          6  that we can brief them on as to the threat. What

          7  they need to look out for and be prepared for. We'll

          8  send members of the Counter Terrorism Division and

          9  the Intelligence Division to these locations to make

         10  sure that they are not vulnerable to attack; that

         11  counter measures are in place that we could put in

         12  place to prevent an attack. We work hand in hand

         13  with all the building security directors and the

         14  building owners.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Who makes the

         16  decision as to when that happens and how long that

         17  happens for?

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: It's not

         19  simply one person making that decision. It's a

         20  collaborative effort among the Police Department as

         21  well. But what I will tell you is that we respond

         22  immediately to it. It's not something that we're

         23  going to sit around and discuss. If we believe there

         24  is a threat to a location, we're going to respond

         25  immediately and do everything we can to protect that
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          2  location.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Typically is the

          4  Police Department's assigned to private locations on

          5  any given day? Or is that just when specific threats

          6  arise?

          7                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: It's

          8  specific threats. It's again depending on

          9  Intelligence and information that we're analyzing.

         10  And that's a decision that the Police Commissioner,

         11  Executive Board of Police Department make daily,

         12  about where to deploy the officers.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I'd like to call

         14  on Council Member Katz for questions.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Good morning to

         16  you and once again thank you for joining us. The

         17  Police Department is extremely responsive when this

         18  Committee calls them and we do appreciate it.

         19  Obviously this legislation is agreed upon by so many

         20  folks, but I'm curious as to what actually works now

         21  and how it works. Obviously in the wake of 9/11 and

         22  the terrorist threats that we all worry about every

         23  single time there is a problem, it seems like if

         24  there is a blackout or a subway car is late, you

         25  worry that it's something else.
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          2                 What happens, a threat is made

          3  against a building. There is private security guards

          4  in that building. Someone calls 911, there is a

          5  terrorist threat. What is the relationship? What is

          6  protocol for the relationship between now the NYPD

          7  and the private guards that are there?

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Obviously

          9  we're going to address the 911 call if there is an

         10  immediate need, there is an emergency, we're going

         11  to have our police officers monitor and address

         12  that. Secondary to that about information sharing

         13  and briefing, the security guards on place, that's

         14  something I believe Jessica could probably answer

         15  better than I could on protocol of pushing

         16  information to the security director.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I can't hear

         18  you, I'm sorry. I can't hear you.

         19                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: I'm sorry.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: If you're

         21  talking to me, I can't hear you.

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Go ahead,

         23  Jessica.

         24                 MS. COREY: Sometimes what happens is

         25  I'm not really sure when there is a terrorist threat
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          2  per say, which would maybe come up to Counter

          3  Terrorism, but a lot of times there are things that

          4  occur in the City that are not necessarily a threat

          5  like the manhole cover explosions that the Inspector

          6  alluded to earlier as well as things like low-

          7  flying planes and helicopters. Other types of things

          8  in the subway, events, fires, things like that, we

          9  have with our APPL e- mail network. We put

         10  information out immediately really to quell rumors

         11  and to stop people from panicking and thinking that

         12  there is some type of terrorist event taking place

         13  so that they are very informed as to what's

         14  happening.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: That's not

         16  answering -- the question really is what is the

         17  protocol? The police have protocols for everything.

         18  So what is the protocol when there is a threat in

         19  the building. It doesn't have to be a terrorist

         20  threat. Something happens in that building which

         21  requires police action and everybody agrees it

         22  requires police action. All I'm asking is then what

         23  is the protocol with the private security guards?

         24  I'm assuming that the private security guards know

         25  that building better than anyone else. They know
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          2  which doors are locked. They know which doors are

          3  opened. They know how to get to the other floors a

          4  lot quicker than maybe the NYPD does. I just need to

          5  know what the protocol is.

          6                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: The protocol

          7  would be the commander on the scene, the incident

          8  commander on the scene would actually go to the

          9  building and location and he would obviously seek

         10  out the Director of Security for the building, the

         11  building engineers, all those things that you just

         12  brought up. Such as their HVAC systems, where they

         13  are located, what's the emergency evacuation plan,

         14  what's the staging location, emergency personnel if

         15  they would respond. That would be the protocol. It

         16  would be an incident commander on a case by case

         17  basis conferring with those people.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So you first ask

         19  for the Director of Security and that person would

         20  probably, and that would be the director of the

         21  private security guards in the building?

         22                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: It depends

         23  on what the threat is. I don't know if it's a

         24  hazardous material threat, we might ask for the

         25  building engineer. Because we're more concerned
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          2  about HVAC systems. It would have to be taken on a

          3  case by case basis.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So the protocol

          5  is you would work with the private security guards

          6  hand in hand. Let's say there is something in the

          7  building, what is the liability issues as far as

          8  sending a private security guard into a building

          9  that there is a threat as opposed to a NYPD? Would

         10  you then keep the private security guards out

         11  because of the liability issues or do they then

         12  become part of the team for want of a better word?

         13                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: I wouldn't

         14  be able to answer that. I wouldn't know what the

         15  liability issues are with something like that. I

         16  could take that request back to the Police

         17  Department and try to find out.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Is the protocol

         19  somewhere in writing?

         20                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: For our

         21  response?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes, for the

         23  response. If there is a private security team in

         24  place, is there is a protocol in writing that the

         25  NYPD has on how to relate to those folks that are
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          2  doing that job?

          3                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: For a

          4  specifically private security, not that I'm aware

          5  of.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right, thank

          7  you.

          8                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Sure.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         10  Council Member Reed.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you very

         12  much, Mr. Chair. I appreciate that we're having this

         13  hearing and certainly to see the interest

         14  demonstrated today by those who are impacted so much

         15  by what we're talking about as all New Yorkers are

         16  when we talk about terrorism. One of the questions

         17  or the line of discussion that my colleague, Council

         18  Member Katz, was exploring raised an interesting

         19  question. At least to me I think it was interesting.

         20  In a lot of these larger buildings particularly, do

         21  the police readily have access to the layout and the

         22  plans of the building? Has this been an issue

         23  finding the people when there is an emergency to who

         24  can assess layouts, et cetera? I know there was much

         25  discussion with the Fire Department after 9/11 and
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          2  other times about escape routes. But do the police

          3  often times find themselves in a difficult situation

          4  that way?

          5                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Not that I'm

          6  aware of, sir. Not that I'm aware of.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I just think

          8  that it's something that the Chair and the Committee

          9  might want to explore in terms of, I don't know if

         10  we can mandate it, but certainly as was said before,

         11  the private security know the building. But I would

         12  imagine for safety sake, I used to work in the

         13  building trades. Often times, it was impossible to

         14  find anybody because it happen to be the moment that

         15  they had gone some place else who could tell you

         16  where the motor rooms were; who could tell you how

         17  to access vital floors. I think that's something we

         18  might want to take a look at besides the question

         19  that was asked about whether the police are using

         20  the expertise of the people in the building. But

         21  it's just something that's come to my mind. Thank

         22  you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         24  Council Member Reed. Chief, Operation Nexus, I think

         25  is an example of a proactive way that NYPD has been
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          2  handling this and it sounds like a great thing.

          3  That's where you reach out to a company prior to any

          4  problems such as an ambulance company, work with

          5  them to make sure they realize that they're the

          6  target potentially of some dealings with terrorist.

          7  If you can, can you tell us whether or not that

          8  resulted in any tangible successes?

          9                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: I'll let

         10  Chris Higgins handle that. He runs the Nexus

         11  Program.

         12                 MR. HIGGINS: Thank you, Inspector.

         13  Good morning, everyone. Understanding that Al- Qaida

         14  is tactually creative and that they're looking to

         15  exploit our resources against us, also understanding

         16  that a terrorist attack does not occur in a vacuum.

         17  For the past two years under Operation Nexus, we've

         18  been very proactive in going out to approximately 60

         19  categories of businesses that we feel either offer a

         20  product or a service or have something in their

         21  inventory or issue a license or certification that

         22  would be desirable to a terrorist operative seeking

         23  to construct or further advance a terrorist against

         24  the City.

         25                 We've gone to a spectrum of
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          2  businesses everything from self- storage facilities

          3  to parking garages and parking lots to gun shops to

          4  hobby shops. Some of the category of businesses seem

          5  somewhat obscure, but this is all predicated upon

          6  analysis information that we get from the Counter

          7  Terrorism Bureau; information that I get from

          8  Jessica Corey and the Crime Prevention Division.

          9  When we go out and we conduct these Operation Nexus

         10  visits and as I speak before this Council today, I

         11  have two or three detective teams out spanning

         12  across the City visiting businesses. When we enter a

         13  business, we defer to the expertise of that

         14  particular business owner.

         15                 We realize they know the ends and

         16  outs of their business; whether it's a dry cleaners

         17  or a hobby shop or somebody that sells

         18  decommissioned emergency vehicles. We go there and

         19  we give them what we call a nexus business specific

         20  sheet which lists pre- incident indicators,

         21  suspicious conduct that we would like the business

         22  owner to call the New York City Terrorism Hotline if

         23  they come across somebody, a customer who displays

         24  one of these behaviors.

         25                 We ask them to look at the aggregate.
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          2  No one individual pre- incident indicator might be

          3  the triggering event. But again, we appeal to the

          4  people in the private sector, in the business sector

          5  knowing their expertise. If there are any unusual

          6  customer transactions. Anything missing from their

          7  inventory; any aberrations to call the Terrorism

          8  Hotline. Now in direct answer to your question,

          9  we've conducted over 20,000 visits to select

         10  businesses, categories of businesses over two years

         11  now. That includes repeat visits to particular

         12  categories of business that we're especially

         13  concerned about.

         14                 It has yielded if I were to try to

         15  quantify it, it probably yielded about 50, roughly

         16  50 leads to the Terrorism Hotline. I have to

         17  elaborate. I say 50 leads. Twenty thousand visits to

         18  area businesses generating say 50 calls to the

         19  Terrorism Hotline. Many of those when they are

         20  investigated either by Joint Terrorist Task Force or

         21  detectives in the Intelligence Division have a

         22  benign kind of innocuous explanation as to why the

         23  person wanted to purchase caster bean seeds which we

         24  know are critical in the making of rice, just to use

         25  a hypothetical example. But there are some leads
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          2  that do seem quite interesting. Because of that

          3  particular lead, because of the facts of the case,

          4  it will get passed to the Joint Terrorist Task Force

          5  for investigation. Operation Nexus, we believe, has

          6  most certainly yielded positive results in terms of

          7  protecting the City.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you very

          9  much, Lieutenant. Deputy Inspector, we are going to

         10  cut off the questioning now because there are many

         11  people who need to testify today. We will be sending

         12  follow- up questions in writing. We thank you for

         13  the efforts you've been making and all the

         14  lieutenants you brought with you on a daily basis to

         15  keep us safe. We look forward to working with you on

         16  this, especially in crafting our resolution to ask

         17  Albany for changes. Thank you for coming down today.

         18                 DEPUTY INSPECTOR O'NEIL: Thank you

         19  for your time.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: As I said, we

         21  have many witnesses. The next will be Michael

         22  Fishman of 32BJ who will be presenting a power point

         23  presentation. Mr. Fishman, thank you. While you're

         24  setting that up, Mr. Fishman, let me introduce some

         25  other Council Members who have joined us. On my
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          2  left, we have Council Member Eric Dilan and on my

          3  right we've been joined by the Chair of our

          4  Environmental Committee, Jim Gennaro; and the Chair

          5  of our Health Committee, Christine Quinn. Thank you

          6  for joining us. Also, a member of this Committee and

          7  Chair of our Waterfront Committee, Council Member

          8  David Yassky. Thank you also. They obviously believe

          9  you're much more important than the Police

         10  Department as they have shown up for your testimony

         11  or they just like power point presentations. I don't

         12  know. I'm kidding. Many and not even members of this

         13  Committee are here because they believe this topic

         14  is so important. Welcome, Mr. Fishman. The floor is

         15  yours.

         16                 MR. FISHMAN: Thank you. Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chairman for allowing us to speak today. I'm

         18  Mike Fishman, President of Local 32BJ. It's good to

         19  see you. Thank you to all the Council Members who

         20  are here and to your whole Committee. I just might

         21  start by making note that the house seems to be

         22  filled and these are all or most of them private

         23  security officers from throughout the City who have

         24  been working 32BJ to help improve the standards in

         25  the industry; many of whom just come off the 12:00
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          2  to 8:00 shift and are here right after work taking

          3  the time. Many are tired. But they are here because

          4  they believe as we believe that this is a critically

          5  important hearing about a critically important

          6  subject. Not to just them individually but to the

          7  City as a whole and to our safety in the future.

          8                 I'm going to start by talking a

          9  little bit about 32BJ and then talk about security.

         10  Our union represents 70,000 building service workers

         11  in New York, New Jersey and Connecticut; 55,000 of

         12  whom are here in the City, 28,000 in the residential

         13  sector, doorman, porters, handymen and resident

         14  managers and superintendents and the rest of them in

         15  the office building sector. Of those, several

         16  thousand are security officers. But the several

         17  thousand that we have in our union pale compare to

         18  the 60,000 that are security officers that are in

         19  New York City today working in every borough and

         20  every building to keep the City safe.

         21                 We started thinking about security in

         22  a different way after 9/11 as all of us have. New

         23  York City continues to be a target because of its

         24  place as the financial capital of the world; because

         25  it's home to the U.N. And the international
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          2  diplomatic community; because there are 3.7 million

          3  people who work in the City everyday; 35 million

          4  tourists annually and a density populated highly

          5  integrated infrastructure. Our rating by the

          6  Homeland Security Department is high for New York

          7  where the rest of the country is one level down at

          8  elevated. That means that we have to pay particular

          9  attention to security as we do and as the Police

         10  Department has.  But there is a serious problem in

         11  the way Homeland Security and the nation has

         12  attacked the question of security.

         13                 The focus has been on the public

         14  sector. We've seen the changes at the airports.

         15  We've seen changes at public facilities and public

         16  buildings. But as the 9/11 Commission said, 85

         17  percent of the infrastructure and the majority of

         18  people in this country are controlled by the private

         19  sector, by private industry. And that means that

         20  private security in those places, 85 percent of the

         21  infrastructure and the people. In New York, that

         22  means 60,000 security officers in the private sector

         23  with 53,000 police officers, there are a little bit

         24  more 60,000 private security officers in the City.

         25                 Security officers have been asked to
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          2  do more and more in the face of 9/11. Security

          3  officers are the link between the private and public

          4  sectors and a critical link in the first responder

          5  network. In order to make things work, we need a

          6  clear coordination between police, fire and private

          7  security. And some of your questions were pointed at

          8  that connection. But there is a lack of coordination

          9  in the industry today. A lack of coordination

         10  between those who are truly the first responders,

         11  the first line of defense, the private security

         12  officer and the Police and Fire Department.

         13                 We've been working with the Police

         14  and Fire Department to develop a program. But we

         15  have a long way to go. Today, security officers in

         16  the buildings have increased responsibilities. We've

         17  seen an increase in building access controls with

         18  security cards, turnstiles, x- ray machines. We've

         19  seen comprehensive evacuation planning. There are

         20  now buildings that have set up receiving rooms for

         21  delivery and packages. So they have one centralized

         22  location. We have much more emphasis on monitoring

         23  of high tech surveillance, fire and access control

         24  systems.

         25                 Today, when a security officer goes
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          2  into a building and they see a bag like that one

          3  that was just placed on the floor, a security

          4  officer, anyone of these individuals, men or women

          5  sitting in this room, will be asked to go and check

          6  that bag. Before 9/11, no one would have thought

          7  twice about it. But today, when a security officer

          8  looks at that bag, they're the ones who have to go

          9  and put their life on the line to pick it up and

         10  check it out. Today, they ask an $8.00 an hour

         11  security guard to put their life on the line to

         12  protect the $500 million facility or to protect the

         13  lives of thousands who are working in a building.

         14  The question, who is going to go check out that bag.

         15                 When we look at what has happened to

         16  the security officer themselves, the security

         17  officer in the building, and we look at the kinds of

         18  training that have been talked about. We look at

         19  today's statute which is the mega- law enacted in

         20  1992, it required only eight hours of pre-

         21  employment training and 16 hours on the job. The 16

         22  hours on the job really amounts to doing the job.

         23  We're really talking about eight hours of pre-

         24  employment training. If you look at any other

         25  occupation, here you see just a few that you might
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          2  think about. A bail enforcement agent has to have 25

          3  hours. A home health care aide, 75 hours and if you

          4  wanted to become a cosmetologist, you need a 1,000

          5  hours. You would need think that a security officer

          6  who has the responsibility for guarding life and

          7  property would be and should be entitled to and

          8  should have a higher level of training.

          9                 If you look at other countries and

         10  look at the standards of training, you look at

         11  Sweden, they required 217 hours of training;

         12  Finland, 100 hours of training; Luxembourg, 80 hours

         13  of training; New York, really eight hours. But even

         14  if you say the 24 hours, you can tie the direct link

         15  between training and compensation to turnover. In

         16  this country, turnover for security officers is

         17  between 100 and 300 percent a year. That means that

         18  you don't see the same face twice in a six month

         19  period. I was talking to one of the elected

         20  officials the other day who said that every few

         21  weeks, there is a new face at the entrance to the

         22  public buildings. That's because somebody is there

         23  who is looking for a better job. Every day they're

         24  looking for a new place to be and that means 100 to

         25  300 percent turnover. The Europeans would say to us,
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          2  that the most effective security is not a turnstile

          3  and it's not an electronic card or surveillance

          4  system, it's a person who stands in the same place

          5  everyday and knows who should be there and who

          6  should not be there.

          7                 In Sweden, the turnover rate

          8  according to their statistics is seven percent a

          9  year; in Finland, ten percent; in Luxembourg, 15

         10  percent and in New York City as in the rest of the

         11  country, between 100 to 300 percent turnover in

         12  every building, in every facility because of the low

         13  compensation, the low level of training. Our

         14  industry, the 60,000 officers who are employed in

         15  this City are looked at as someone said to me, in

         16  this City, they look at paying a post and not a

         17  person. The investment has been an infrastructure,

         18  not in people. So in a highly ultra competitive

         19  industry, there is inadequate training, low wages

         20  which means a race to the bottom for a contractor or

         21  an owner to get the lowest cost security which ends

         22  up with a high turnover and in fact, the most

         23  insecure security that you can have as one officer

         24  after another leaves to find a better post that will

         25  pay a few dollars more.
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          2                 In our discussions, that's really the

          3  way everyone who is sitting here today as an officer

          4  looks at it. Is where can I go that will get me a

          5  few dollars more per hour for my work where somebody

          6  will value me and the competition of the industry

          7  keeps reducing and reducing the hourly cost and the

          8  hourly wages. We all pay for the cost of low

          9  standards. A great potential for loss of lives in a

         10  disaster; safety concerns raise questions for

         11  companies based in New York; the low security

         12  standards that we see as we address this issue and

         13  as we have talked to every security officer here and

         14  throughout the City and to buildings, it's become

         15  clear that this is not a problem that can be solved

         16  company by company. Not a problem that can be solved

         17  individually.

         18                 It has to be solved by setting higher

         19  standards for the entire City that will create a

         20  security net which every security officer will be

         21  part of and will increase from 53,000 police

         22  officers; will double the number of eyes and ears.

         23  The people who are actually there everyday in the

         24  building will be part of that security net and make

         25  New York the safest City in the country.
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          2                 We started to think about this issue

          3  nearly two years ago right after 9/11. We approached

          4  the real estate industry through REBNY. We

          5  approached the owners, the tenants that is of the

          6  buildings through the New York City Partnership and

          7  we talked about forming a partnership between the

          8  three of us. A tripartite committee that would begin

          9  to address the security issues in the private

         10  security sector with our goal being to

         11  professionalize the industry. After many meetings

         12  and discussions, we moved on to launch what we now

         13  call New York Safe and Secure, a partnership to

         14  professionalize the private security industry in New

         15  York City.

         16                 We've talked with and worked with

         17  John Jay College, with the New York City Fire

         18  Department and the New York City Police Department.

         19  They have been tremendously helpful every step of

         20  the way in thinking about what curriculum would be

         21  needed, how the training could be delivered in what

         22  way and what would be the best way to move a market

         23  wide training program that would ensure common

         24  standards for professional training and help

         25  building owners gain accountability of the security
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          2  in their buildings.

          3                 To that end, we first started by

          4  developing the residential program which many of you

          5  have heard about, a four hour training program that

          6  would give doorman, porters, handymen, concierges an

          7  understanding of what is important to look for, how

          8  you deal with suspicious people and suspicious

          9  packages and how they can increase the safety in

         10  each of the buildings. Nearly 3,000 residential

         11  building personnel have been trained so far in more

         12  than a 130 buildings. We intend to reach all 28,000

         13  building service workers in 3,500 buildings by the

         14  end of the program. The Fire Department as the Chief

         15  said here has been instrumental in helping us find

         16  trainers, in providing resources and providing

         17  academic understanding and developing the

         18  curriculum. The entire four hour curriculum was

         19  developed with the Police and Fire Department and

         20  with John Jay. They have also been instrumental now

         21  in moving towards a same kind of program for the

         22  officer workers and for the security officers in the

         23  office buildings throughout the City.

         24                 Ray Kelly said the police and the

         25  building service workers are natural allies. Both
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          2  work around the clock, both are in the business of

          3  protecting people. This program gives us a powerful

          4  network of eyes and ears on the street. That's our

          5  goal to build that kind of seamless first responder

          6  network throughout the City. A partnership between

          7  private, business, labor, the public sector that

          8  will create a high level of preparedness throughout

          9  the entire City. The training program that we have

         10  been working on along with the training in the

         11  public sector and the heightened awareness in the

         12  public sector will make as I said, New York a safer

         13  place to live and safest City in the country.

         14                 If you look at the City and you take

         15  a tale of two buildings, two very well known

         16  buildings; Rock Center and the Empire State

         17  Building. Rock Center has security officers who have

         18  access to training programs; who are compensated

         19  well; who make between $15 and $18 an hour, have

         20  health insurance, have a pension. Turnover at Rock

         21  Center was 13 percent last year compared with the

         22  average of 100 to 300 percent per year. The officers

         23  at Rock Center are committed to the safety and

         24  security of that building. Because the owners of

         25  that building and the managers are also committed to
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          2  it, they have a work force that is steady, stable

          3  and continues to make that a safe and secure

          4  building.

          5                 If you compare that with the Empire

          6  State Building, the Empire State Building has a

          7  little notoriety lately in the New York Times and on

          8  television about their security. They have

          9  inadequate training. The medium wage at the Empire

         10  State Building for security is $8.00 an hour. And

         11  now we have tenants who are suing the building for

         12  jeopardizing their safety. Two landmarks in the

         13  City, two owners and contractors who have taken

         14  different approaches; one that will ensure we

         15  believe a safe and secure building at Rock Center.

         16  The other that jeopardizes not only the tenants in

         17  that building and the security of the building, but

         18  the security officers in that building who are

         19  working there without adequate compensation and

         20  without adequate training.

         21                 We are all here today, the security

         22  officers as well as 32BJ together, to say that we

         23  want adequate training. We want more training. We

         24  want to help make New York the safest City. But we

         25  have to have a standard that is going to be for the
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          2  entire City, not just for individual buildings.

          3  Professionalization is good for everyone. It makes

          4  New York a safer place to live and work. It enhances

          5  the City's ability to attract and retain businesses

          6  because tenants feel safe. It builds a group of

          7  professionals with increase skills to offer better

          8  protection and creates a respected profession which

          9  reduces turnover.

         10                 We support the City Council

         11  Resolution 569, introduced by Chairman Vallone and

         12  the members of the Public Safety Committee. We think

         13  that New York needs the power. If the State will not

         14  do it, New York and every municipality needs the

         15  power to be able to change the standards for the

         16  security industry. If we've learned anything since

         17  9/11, it's that everyone has to be a part of making

         18  the City safe, of making every building safe and

         19  keeping the us all safe. That means that New York

         20  has to take its responsibility and its government

         21  has to take its responsibility seriously to increase

         22  the standards for public safety through increasing

         23  the standards for private sector security officers.

         24  We support your initiative and we are here today to

         25  make sure that we can all work together to make New
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          2  York safe and secure. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you very

          4  much, Mr. Fishman. Let me reiterate something you

          5  said. I want to commend you and your members,

          6  especially those who worked 12:00 to 8:00 and were

          7  here today. I can't reiterate enough how important

          8  this is. We have not been attacked since September

          9  11. The men and women of your union are part of the

         10  front line of defense that are responsible for that.

         11  You are obviously doing an excellent job of

         12  protecting us.

         13                 MR. FISHMAN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Okay. Thank you.

         15  It is also important to point out that while we are

         16  sitting up here, I don't want anyone to get the

         17  wrong idea, calling for more training, it's your

         18  union. It's you and your union that was the impetus

         19  behind this call. We are not saying this because we

         20  believe you are not doing your job. We are saying

         21  this because you have informed us that although

         22  you're doing an excellent job, you can do a better

         23  job if you're better compensated and if you're

         24  better trained. You are the impetus behind this

         25  hearing.
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          2                 MR. FISHMAN: I appreciate that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Please, let's

          4  keep it quiet. Even though it's me talking, we'll

          5  have to keep it quiet. I hate to say that, but we do

          6  have to keep it quiet. You are the impetus behind

          7  the hearing. I don't want any Council Members or

          8  anyone in this room to get the wrong idea here. We

          9  are not blaming you for anything. We are here to

         10  work with you to get this training that you've been

         11  requesting.

         12                 MR. FISHMAN: I appreciate that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: You made some

         14  interesting points in your presentation. We don't

         15  normally look to Europe for lessons in security. But

         16  I think in this case we may have to make an

         17  exception. You said in, I forget the country, I

         18  think it might have been Sweden, there were 200

         19  hours that were necessary.

         20                 MR. FISHMAN: Two-hundred seventeen,

         21  yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Which sounds

         23  much more reasonable than the eight or 24 that are

         24  required here especially in light of the fact that a

         25  cosmetologist needs a 1,000 hours, I believe you
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          2  said.

          3                 MR. FISHMAN: Right.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let's start with

          5  some simple questions. How many security guards are

          6  there in New York City and how many of those are

          7  part of your union?

          8                 MR. FISHMAN: There are 60,000 in the

          9  City and there are about 1,500 who are union members

         10  now. Most of them are non- union.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The day to day

         12  responsibilities of these security guards, I think

         13  your bag example is very enlightening. Because I'm

         14  Chair of the Public Safety Committee here. If I saw

         15  that bag sitting in City Council, my first reaction

         16  would be to call one of your members who are

         17  apparently making $8.00 an hour and not being

         18  trained and what to do if they saw this bag. It was

         19  a very informative example. Can you enlighten us a

         20  little bit more about what other type situations

         21  First of all, what would happen in that situation

         22  and what other type of serious situations are your

         23  members and even security guards that are not your

         24  members facing on a daily basis?

         25                 MR. FISHMAN: Normally they would be
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          2  asked to look at that bag and they would go and do

          3  it. Am I right?

          4                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKERS: Yes, yes.

          5                 MR. FISHMAN: If they thought it was a

          6  suspicious package, they would go to their director

          7  and the director might inform the Police Department.

          8  But by and large, those things are taken care of by

          9  the officers right here in this room. That goes on

         10  every day. When you're being paid $8.00 an hour,

         11  you're asked to check those packages. You're

         12  checking people at the door. You're checking

         13  identification. In many buildings now, they have a

         14  package room where the packages have to be checked

         15  in and if they look suspicious, they're suppose to

         16  take certain action with it.

         17            What does it mean to be suspicious? The

         18  training is very limited. But if it has little white

         19  powder around it, then I guess we would all think it

         20  might be anthrax. We've had the same training.

         21  Right. We watch TV. There's not enough training on

         22  how to deal with suspicious materials and packages.

         23  They're asked to check people at the door with the

         24  new electronic systems. You have to check an

         25  individuals. You have to give them identification.
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          2  You have to check their identification. There is now

          3  a continuous log of individuals who come into

          4  buildings. In many buildings now, you have the

          5  turnstile system that's been put in.

          6                 The odd thing about all the

          7  infrastructure investment is that when you put in

          8  turnstiles, you have to have someone stand there and

          9  take care of the turnstiles and watch who goes

         10  through the turnstiles and let them in and make sure

         11  that they have ID. In the days before 9/11, when

         12  there might be two individuals in a lobby, now you

         13  might need five. Two at each of the turnstiles,

         14  somebody checking them in and somebody at the door.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: What has

         16  differed with the relation to the amount of officers

         17  and their duties since 9/11?

         18                 MR. FISHMAN: Many of the things I

         19  just talked about. Package rooms were not common

         20  before. Now packages are all checked in. You have to

         21  be checked by someone. Deliveries are all checked.

         22  Vehicles that come into a building have to all be

         23  checked. Vehicles that go down into a building, you

         24  have to both know who they are, what are they doing

         25  there, were they permitted to be there. Each one has
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          2  to be checked. Some you've seen as you drive down

          3  the street, you'll see those with the mirrors that

          4  go under the vehicles and so some of that is being

          5  done now. It depends on the building. Some buildings

          6  are you see with the example of Rock Center, Empire

          7  State Building, whether they're landmarks or paying

          8  a lot of money for the rent or not, the owners or

          9  managers are making the decision on the level of

         10  security. It varies from almost nothing to an

         11  extensive security system that's been developed over

         12  years.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Let me ask you a

         14  question since you brought it up. If a vehicle is

         15  coming into a building and a security guard is

         16  looking underneath it with a mirror, are they

         17  getting any specified training in what to look for

         18  with the mirror underneath the car?

         19                 MR. FISHMAN: Some do and some don't.

         20  It's that simple. There are no standards in the

         21  City.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Because if I was

         23  looking underneath the car, I would be looking for

         24  the big round bomb that says Acme Bomb Company on it

         25  with a fuse on it. I would have no idea what to look

                                                            53

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  for. But you're saying other people are in the same

          3  situation?

          4                 MR. FISHMAN: Right. We find in many

          5  cases and depending on the company and I want to

          6  make it clear that there are owners in this City who

          7  take this very seriously, have extensive security

          8  systems that they have developed themselves. But in

          9  many cases, it's the appearance of more security and

         10  not the reality. Somebody has asked to do the job

         11  without any training to appear that they're doing

         12  more of a job than they are. It's not fair to the

         13  officers sitting here. It's not fair to the City and

         14  the tenants in those buildings.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think your

         16  tale of two buildings was a good example of that.

         17  What can we do to ensure that building owners do

         18  hire qualified, compensated, trained security

         19  guards?

         20                 MR. FISHMAN: I think it starts with

         21  sitting higher standards. That's why we support your

         22  resolution before this Committee. We think its

         23  critical that the government take the initiative to

         24  set higher standards, quality qualifications for

         25  this standards and that the government enforces.
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          2  That means if it's not going to be the State, then

          3  we would say the City must do that and in this case

          4  since it is New York City, the capital of the world,

          5  we have to take that responsibility. It starts with

          6  those standards and then in terms of compensation,

          7  that's something that we need to work on as a union

          8  that the officers will work on together. But I think

          9  that the standards of training will set the stage

         10  for better qualifications and pay standards.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think we agree

         12  on that. Two last questions before I turn it over to

         13  the Council Members. You said, 300 percent turnover

         14  in some cases. I'm assuming that means in one job in

         15  one year, you'll have three different people working

         16  there.

         17                 MR. FISHMAN: That's right, yes.

         18  People move from building to building all the time.

         19  People are looking for better pay standards and it's

         20  all done by building. Every owner is making their

         21  own decision about what to pay. So any security

         22  officer will look for another job. If they're in an

         23  $8.00 job, they're going to look for a $9.00 job. If

         24  they're at $9.00, they'll look for $10.00. And they

         25  will be turning over as rapidly as they can.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Last question I

          3  have for the moment, fingerprint background check,

          4  would you agree that we need a national check as

          5  opposed to a State wide check?

          6                 MR. FISHMAN: I don't think we have

          7  taken position on that. I wouldn't know exactly what

          8  to say on that. But we do think that the study by

          9  the State showed that there was severe problems in

         10  the way security companies are administering the

         11  entire system and there needs to be a change.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member

         13  Yassky.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Chair Vallone,

         15  thank you very much. I want to say and I heard you

         16  say this wasn't your idea, but nonetheless, I

         17  commend you for pursuing it so vigorously. I would

         18  like to ask you to please add my name as a co-

         19  sponsor to this bill today.

         20                 I just have one question, Mr.

         21  Fishman. Are there and thank you for bringing this

         22  really to the Council's attention, the State

         23  legislature attention, I certainly want to work with

         24  the Chair and you to get the State legislature to

         25  give us the authority that so we plainly need here.
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          2  Here is my question. Are there companies, building

          3  owners or contractor firms that really are exemplary

          4  here that we can use a models that have training

          5  programs that we can look to in sitting the

          6  standards for everybody else?

          7                 MR. FISHMAN: I think the two that are

          8  outstanding at this point, I would push Tishman

          9  Buyers who work at the Rockefeller Center. They have

         10  a very extensive training program and a very good

         11  security system. And Fisher Brothers who has a

         12  number of buildings throughout the City also has

         13  some high level of standards and training. Both of

         14  them are supportive of this kind of effort and have

         15  been through the partnership and through REBNY. It's

         16  that quality that we're looking for.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you.

         18  Thank you again.

         19                 MR. FISHMAN: Mr. Chairman, could I

         20  add one more thing?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Of course.

         22                 MR. FISHMAN: I had the opportunity to

         23  talk to with some of the European security directors

         24  over the last several weeks at a conference that was

         25  held of all the European security agencies. They are

                                                            57

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  now working on just this same issue. But not to

          3  country by country, they're developing standards for

          4  the entire European union to build on the Swedish

          5  model of a high level of training, a high level of

          6  compensation. It's interesting to learn that in

          7  Sweden, a security officer is paid the same as a

          8  teacher. That's what they think of the job. And they

          9  have a very high level of training that's required.

         10  It's something that the entire European community is

         11  looking at in the light of 9/11.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

         13  Council Member Katz. Let me also welcome, Council

         14  Member Gentile. Thank you for joining us.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Hi. Thank you

         16  for joining us as usual. You heard the question I

         17  asked the police when they were here about the

         18  integration of what happens with the private

         19  security guards and the police or EMS or ambulance

         20  or anyone that comes. Do you want to comment on it?

         21  Because I noticed as the police were answering the

         22  question, I saw a whole bunch of shaking heads no.

         23                 MR. FISHMAN: Right.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So I thought I

         25  would give you the opportunity to answer the same
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          2  question from the perspective of the security

          3  guards.

          4                 MR. FISHMAN: I think there is very

          5  little coordination. The security officers are not

          6  the first people that the police go to when they

          7  come to the building. They are not used as a

          8  resource adequately. Part of our work with the

          9  Police Department has been directly on this issue.

         10  That in these trainings we want, since the police

         11  officers are doing the training from the Police

         12  Academy, as part of the goal of the training and the

         13  training program is to get a link between police and

         14  private security officers. That we would have

         15  someone that they would have respect for each other.

         16  As it is right now, there is a gap between them. We

         17  don't think it needs to be there. It shouldn't be

         18  there. There needs to be much greater coordination

         19  and respect for each other's role.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: From the

         21  perspective of 32BJ, so when the police show up,

         22  they basically take over the building. How do they

         23  get their information?

         24                 MR. FISHMAN: They go to the security

         25  director who is not necessarily talking to all of
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          2  the officers or they may go to the building manager

          3  in more cases. They'll go to the resident manager or

          4  the building manager and they don't involve all the

          5  officers who actually have been on the scene and

          6  know all the in's and out's of the whole building.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Then what

          8  happens? The police are there, it's a tense

          9  situation, security guards are there. I guess the

         10  police become in charge of the area as they would in

         11  a terrorist threat.

         12                 MR. FISHMAN: Right. I think --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I guess my

         14  question really is what happens -- I'm not sure if

         15  this would ever happen, where the management team

         16  (the employers) want one thing and the police want

         17  another. What happens to the folks that work there?

         18  Who do they listen to?

         19                 MR. FISHMAN: I think it would be

         20  better answered by the security officers who is

         21  going to talk to you in a little while to give you

         22  more direct information about what happens day to

         23  day when the police show up. Generally, it's very

         24  bad coordination. The security officers are just set

         25  aside.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right. Only you

          3  can answer what the protocol is suppose to be. I

          4  don't know the answer to that.

          5                 MR. FISHMAN: I don't have that

          6  either. That's something we could develop together.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay. Mr. Chair,

          8  I think the police have left. But I probably see a

          9  representative from the Mayor's office. I think that

         10  we really should have some of this protocol written

         11  down. Regardless of the resolution, it's a great

         12  resolution, we hope that it passes swiftly. I think

         13  that the police also need to have some sort of

         14  written protocol for the security officers that are

         15  out there. Because if there isn't one general

         16  standard, then I don't even know what they're using

         17  as a base. That's just not fair if they're working

         18  in a building and something happens.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you,

         20  Council Member Katz. You're absolutely right. There

         21  is always a representative from the Police

         22  Department here and they are still in the room. We

         23  will be requesting of the Police Department for that

         24  protocol in writing as subsequent to this hearing.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you.

          3  Council Member Quinn.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you very

          5  much, Mr. Chair. First I also would request that my

          6  name be added as a sponsor of the resolution and --

          7  (clapping)

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Council Member,

          9  if I may just interrupt a second. Two things, number

         10  one the only reason many of these Council Members

         11  are not on the resolution already is because it was

         12  just introduced last week or otherwise they would be

         13  on already. I'm proud that they are going to join.

         14  Second thing, we've been pretty lax on the clapping.

         15  We normally don't allow that. We've allowed it so

         16  far because you've been up since midnight last

         17  night. We really need to stop that now Thank you. We

         18  know you appreciate what the Council Members are

         19  saying. Let's try to keep the clapping out of this.

         20  Thanks. Council Member.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you. I

         22  just wanted to say you made a comparison in some

         23  countries to the guards getting paid what teachers

         24  get paid. We probably should try in this City to do

         25  better by teachers and guards. We probably should
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          2  set a higher standard even for ourselves.

          3                 MR. FISHMAN: Right.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I just wanted

          5  to make the comment that when you are talking about

          6  Rockefeller Center versus Empire State Building, I

          7  think one of the, and certainly the comment about

          8  the European union raises this issue, what we really

          9  need, as well as greater security, is consistent

         10  security.

         11                 MR. FISHMAN: Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: So that the

         13  people who would commit crimes or acts of terror

         14  feel that there aren't weak links some place.

         15  Because otherwise what will happen is they'll find

         16  those weak links and exploit them. I think what our

         17  efforts today are moving towards not only in

         18  improvement but in cross the board consistently

         19  higher level which will then make our City much,

         20  much safer because we can eliminate any of those

         21  weak links, the better we'll all be. Because we can

         22  rest assured that if they exist, those who want to

         23  commit harm against our City will find them. Thank

         24  you and your members for all your hard work and for

         25  bringing the importance of this issue to the
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          2  Council.

          3                 MR. FISHMAN: Thank you, ma'am.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Mr. Fishman, are

          5  there any other private security guards working at

          6  City buildings?

          7                 MR. FISHMAN: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Because I was

          9  introducing to my Council, Ted Baecher, to this

         10  Committee who has done all the paperwork that you've

         11  seen before us today. And I have been just

         12  discussing an idea that he brought up. As many of

         13  you are aware, we can't mandate requirements because

         14  the State has acted in this area and that preempts

         15  us and we're asking for them to change these

         16  standards or for the permission to do it on our own.

         17                 MR. FISHMAN: Right.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Perhaps we can

         19  mandate some changes where it comes to the City

         20  employing these officers. So that's something that

         21  we will be looking at and you maybe seeing some

         22  additional introductions or resolutions along that

         23  line that we'll work with you on.

         24                 MR. FISHMAN: That's great. I think

         25  that would be appropriate and exactly right thing to
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          2  do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We are done with

          4  our questioning. Again, we have at least two more

          5  panels. We thank you, Mr. Fishman.

          6                 MR. FISHMAN: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: As we said, we

          8  look forward to working with you.

          9                 MR. FISHMAN: Thank you very much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The next panel

         11  will be William Raisch for the International Center

         12  for Enterprise Preparedness; Jeff Schlanger,

         13  President of Kroll Government Services and Patricia

         14  Noonan of the New York City Partnership. Following

         15  them, we'll have a panel of security officers who

         16  will be telling us about their experiences and the

         17  changes that they believe are necessary. With this

         18  panel, we'll have each member speak for three

         19  minutes and then we'll have questions after all

         20  members are done speaking. Thank you all for joining

         21  us. I'll leave it up to you to determine what order.

         22  As I said, we'll hear from each of you and hopefully

         23  it will be within about three minutes and then we'll

         24  have questions at the end of the entire

         25  presentation.
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          2                 MS. NOONAN: Good morning, Chairman

          3  Vallone and members of the New York City Council.

          4  Thank you for holding this hearing to focus

          5  attention on the critical issue of security in New

          6  York City's commercial office buildings. I am

          7  pleased today to testify on behalf of the

          8  Partnership for New York City.

          9                 The Partnership is an organization

         10  comprised of the chief executives of the City's

         11  largest private employers, dedicated to promoting

         12  the economic health of the City and its

         13  neighborhoods. In a post 9/11 world, New York City

         14  remains a target for terrorists seeking to disrupt

         15  our national economy and international financial

         16  markets. Our investment in security is necessary to

         17  protect not just our lives and our property, but our

         18  economy and our prospects for economic growth.

         19                 Fifty percent of the nation's

         20  potential losses due to terrorism are concentrated

         21  in New York City. This is due to several factors. We

         22  have the largest concentration of symbolic and

         23  economic targets in the world. And the density of

         24  our urban environment which is 26,000 people per

         25  square mile means that any damage carries a much
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          2  higher cost. That is why the Partnership has

          3  actively supported the City's efforts to secure our

          4  fair share of homeland security funds, support

          5  federal terrorism insurance through the extension of

          6  the Terrorism Risk Insurance Act and establish

          7  cooperative networks between NYPD anti- terrorism

          8  units and the business community.

          9                 New York City's business community

         10  has been a target of foreign terrorism twice in the

         11  last decade and we know that as a global financial

         12  and commercial center, we will remain targets for

         13  the foreseeable future for those who would want to

         14  destroy our way of life. That is why, since 9/11,

         15  New York City businesses have invested more to

         16  upgrade security, install new technology and hire

         17  additional workers than in any other city in the

         18  country.

         19                 In the fall of 2003, a report from

         20  the Conference Board said that nationally, firms are

         21  spending four percent more on security post 9/11.

         22  Anecdotally, we know that number is much higher in

         23  New York City. Some of our member firms report

         24  increases of almost 50 percent since 9/11. Others

         25  are in the 10 to 20 percent range. In addition,

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  since 9/11, systems have been set up to ensure

          3  timely and efficient communication between

          4  employers, law enforcement and first responders.

          5  Employers are increasingly aware that an important

          6  component of a more rigorous and effective security

          7  preparation involves upgrading the professionalism

          8  of building security personnel.

          9                 Since 9/11, the expectations of

         10  security personnel have increased sharply.

         11  Historically, the job in an office building security

         12  guard was more passive, patrolling lobbies and

         13  signing in visitors and guests. Now, as we all know,

         14  entering virtually any office building in New York

         15  City requires a careful security check and that

         16  means the role of the guard has become much more

         17  active and much more important. In many ways, the

         18  security guard is now the first line of defense for

         19  our commercial sector.

         20                 Given our heightened security

         21  concerns, businesses expect security personnel to

         22  help prevent emergencies rather than just react to

         23  them. Newly defined job responsibilities require

         24  strong communication skills and greater attention to

         25  human behavior. Medical and emergency knowledge is
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          2  also sought after. And unfortunately, too many

          3  security guards do not have these skills today.

          4                 To ensure safer commercial buildings,

          5  we need to place a priority on better training for

          6  the security guard workforce. This involves two

          7  steps. We support the efforts of 32BJ to form a

          8  public/private collaboration between business,

          9  labor, building owners/managers and public safety

         10  agencies; and we recognize the need to develop

         11  integrated and appropriate security training

         12  programs that raise the standards of security guards

         13  and related personnel.

         14                 Good technology and security systems

         15  will help make our building more secure, but there

         16  is no substitute for proper training and employment

         17  standards that attract and retain qualified

         18  personnel. Quality training standards need not be

         19  extensive to be successful. A training and

         20  credentialing program that is targeted, tested, and

         21  endorsed by security industry experts, in both

         22  public and private sectors, will ensure that

         23  security guards are prepared for the threats most

         24  relevant to their environment.

         25                 Although details and costs are still
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          2  to be worked out, the Partnership believes that

          3  collaboration between business and labor on this

          4  issue is critical. State and federal money may be

          5  available for some training costs and the union has

          6  also pledged to bring its own resources to this

          7  endeavor. A pilot training program has already begun

          8  in residential buildings.

          9                 Several of our member companies are

         10  meeting with 32BJ already and are enthusiastic about

         11  their plans to improve the training and support

         12  system for these workers. The Partnership supports

         13  32BJ's efforts to upgrade the quality of the

         14  security workforce in our commercial office

         15  buildings because we recognize that these facilities

         16  are attractive targets for those seeking to disrupt

         17  national and international markets. Thank you.

         18                 MR. SCHLANGER: Mr. Chairman, members

         19  of the Committee, thank you for having me this

         20  morning. My name is Jeff Schlanger. I am now the

         21  President of Kroll Government Services and as such

         22  am responsible for all of Kroll's public sector work

         23  including the protection work that we are doing in

         24  Iraq, the police monitor ships in which we are

         25  currently engaged in Los Angeles, Detroit and
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          2  Pennsylvania, our work in providing security

          3  clearance investigates for TSA, DHS and OPM as well

          4  as security in emergency management consulting to a

          5  variety of government entities.

          6                 For three years before and two years

          7  following September 11, I was the Chief Operating

          8  Officer of the Security Services Group at Kroll

          9  which was charged with providing all security

         10  related services including preventive services as

         11  well as crisis and emergency planning to both the

         12  public and private sectors. Kroll is engaged in

         13  security work long before I arrived at the company,

         14  however. In fact, after the 1993 bombing of the

         15  World Trade Center, we're engaged to write and help

         16  implement their security master plan. Indeed, it was

         17  the training of the World Trade Center personnel

         18  which we recommended and helped implement, which was

         19  widely credited with the saving of countless of

         20  hundreds of lives on 9/11.

         21                 Yesterday, I had the pleasure to

         22  speak at a conference organized by the Police

         23  Institute examining the integration of the private

         24  sector into anti- terrorism strategies. Major city

         25  police chiefs from the Northeast, from Los Angeles
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          2  as well as representatives of the Department of

          3  Justice and the Department of Homeland Security were

          4  present. It was unanimous agreement that the private

          5  sector had an enormous role to play in the securing

          6  of our homeland. But that a general upgrading of the

          7  industry is a pre- requisite to the fulfillment of

          8  that role.

          9                 Just as the Federal government with

         10  only 40,000 law enforcement officials spread

         11  throughout the United States needs to enlist the aid

         12  of the five to six hundred thousand local and state

         13  law enforcement officers to fight the fight against

         14  terrorism, so to, do local law enforcement and state

         15  law enforcement need to multiple their force through

         16  the utilization of vastly more omnipresent private

         17  security guards.

         18                 In New York City, the first line of

         19  defense for millions of people who work, live and

         20  visit every day are building security officers. The

         21  heroic acts that I referred to before relative to

         22  the World Trade Center bombing were accomplished

         23  through appropriate training, planning and

         24  exercising. For New York City security officers to

         25  be up to the task, they too must be given the latest
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          2  state of the art security training by police and

          3  police sponsored programs such as Local 32BJ's, New

          4  York Safe and Secure Training Program. Essential

          5  elements of the training that security officers will

          6  need to keep New York safe must include terrorist

          7  detection and prevention including what to look for

          8  and how to recognize it when seeing, emergency

          9  management training including early alert, and tend

         10  to evacuation procedures and how to better

         11  coordinate with the City's police, fire and

         12  emergency personnel.

         13                 Because of the competitive nature of

         14  the market place and the cost center which security

         15  represents, security companies must be required by

         16  law, if necessary, to provide such comprehensive

         17  training before any new hire begins work and then to

         18  exercise that training on a regular and periodic

         19  basis.

         20                 Furthermore, in addition to training,

         21  the industry needs to raise standards including the

         22  state's minimal background security checks and its

         23  inadequate regulatory patrol of these companies. We

         24  must additionally address the industry's alarmingly

         25  high turnover rate. We are fighting a losing battle
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          2  if we train security officers, but fail to provide

          3  them with a living wage and a career path that would

          4  keep them on the job for a significant period of

          5  time.

          6                 In sum, we in New York City need to

          7  use our private security personnel as a force

          8  multiplier to the best Police Department, the best

          9  Fire Department and the best office of Emergency

         10  Management in the country. We can only do this,

         11  however, if we are confident that private security

         12  is up to the task. That confidence will come from a

         13  general professionalization of the industry. A

         14  professionalization where the security workforce is

         15  properly vested, trained, certified and exercised.

         16  I'm afraid that the consequences of not doing so and

         17  allowing the industry to continue to operate in the

         18  same old way could lead to a tragedy that might

         19  otherwise be avoided. I applaud the City Council's

         20  interest in addressing this pressing and long

         21  standing issue and  would be happy to answer any

         22  questions. Thank you.

         23                 MR. RAISCH: Good morning. Thank you

         24  for inviting me to testify to the Council regarding

         25  the issue of private sector preparedness. My name is
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          2  Bill Raisch. I was honored to serve as an advisor to

          3  the Federal 9/11 Commission with respect to private

          4  sector preparedness issues and I currently chair the

          5  Working Group on Private Sector Preparedness, which

          6  is a group of corporations and other stakeholders

          7  committed to advancing private sector emergency

          8  preparedness in support of the Commission's

          9  recommendations.

         10                 I also serve as the Executive

         11  Director of the International Center for Enterprise

         12  Preparedness, a newly established center at NYU.

         13  That center in particular establishes the first

         14  major academic center specifically focused on

         15  private sector preparedness. Reiterating an issue

         16  that was mentioned earlier that there has been a

         17  tremendous focus on the public sector element of

         18  this problem, but we need to acknowledge really the

         19  private sector as a key player in this as way. This

         20  Center was founded in conjunction with the U.S.

         21  Department of Homeland Security and one of it's

         22  primary emphases as going forward is research

         23  specifically focused on private sector emergency

         24  preparedness.

         25                 I'd like to make three brief points
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          2  this morning regarding training needs in the private

          3  sector, the importance of standards and the

          4  importance of integration between both security

          5  efforts and general all hazard emergency management.

          6  Number one. Both residential and commercial

          7  buildings are vital elements of our national

          8  infrastructure and the building employees who work

          9  in them will likely be responders to any emergency

         10  that may occur in these buildings. This has been

         11  underscored by the Department of Homeland Security

         12  in its document entitled National Strategy for

         13  Physical Protection of Critical Infrastructures and

         14  Key Assets.

         15                 The document states, prominent

         16  commercial centers, office buildings, and other

         17  sites where large numbers of people congregate to

         18  pursue business activities are key assets to our

         19  country's critical infrastructure and must be

         20  protected. Furthermore, in its final report to the

         21  Congress and the President, the 9/11 Commission

         22  found, the private sector controls 85 percent of the

         23  critical infrastructure in the nation. Indeed,

         24  unless a terrorist target is a military or other

         25  secure government facility, the first, first
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          2  responders will almost certainly be civilians.

          3  Homeland Security and national preparedness,

          4  therefore, begins with the private sector.

          5                 Number two. A National Preparedness

          6  Standard has been endorsed by both the 9/11

          7  Commission and the Department of Homeland Security

          8  addressing the criteria for private sector emergency

          9  preparedness. In identifying a general lack of

         10  preparedness on the part of the private sector, with

         11  some notable exceptions particularly in the New York

         12  City area, the 9/11 Commission concluded that the

         13  lack of a widely embraced public sector preparedness

         14  standard was a principal contributing factor to this

         15  lack of preparedness.

         16                 This led the Commission to request

         17  the American National Standards Institute (ANSI) to

         18  convene a representative body of private sector

         19  organizations to recommend a national preparedness

         20  standard for the private sector. The ANSI Homeland

         21  Security Standards Panel, in which I participated,

         22  identified and recommended the American National

         23  Standard for Disaster/Emergency Management and

         24  Business Continuity (ANSI- NFPA 1600).

         25                 This standard was developed in

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  cooperation with FEMA and a diversity of public and

          3  private sector organizations. The Standard addresses

          4  an all hazards approach to emergencies and thus is a

          5  valuable response to many types of emergencies

          6  including severe weather, hurricanes, workplace

          7  violence, hazardous material spills, fires and other

          8  emergencies in addition to terrorism.

          9                 In its final report, the 9/11

         10  Commission recommended that compliance with the

         11  standard should define the standard of care owed by

         12  a company to its employees and the public for legal

         13  purposes. The Commission further endorsed and

         14  recommended that insurance and credit rating

         15  agencies look closely at a company's compliance with

         16  the standard in assessing its insurability and

         17  credit worthiness. In addition, Homeland Security

         18  Secretary, Tom Ridge endorsed the National

         19  Preparedness Standard and announced that the

         20  Department of Homeland Security encourages

         21  businesses and organizations to adopt the Standard.

         22                 Number three. This Standard, this

         23  newly designated National Preparedness Standard,

         24  specifically requires training and exercises as a

         25  key element in emergency preparedness. The Standard
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          2  provides specific training and exercise elements,

          3  designed to be implemented by organizations of any

          4  size. The training sections cites specific

          5  requirements with respect to identifying training

          6  needs, developing and implementing training and

          7  educational curriculum to support the program. The

          8  training and educational curriculum is to comply

          9  with all regulatory requirements. Here is an issue

         10  we're talking about expanding perhaps.

         11                 The objective should also look to

         12  create an awareness and enhance skills to develop,

         13  implement, maintain and execute the program. It

         14  should look at issues of frequency and scope of

         15  training. And finally, and perhaps most importantly,

         16  focus really on the integration of the personnel

         17  into the incident management system of the overall

         18  effort. The Standard also addresses other issues of

         19  exercise, evaluation and corrective action which are

         20  detailed in my written report.

         21                 In conclusion, I'd like to stress

         22  three items. Number one, high rise buildings

         23  represent a key element of the nation's

         24  infrastructure. Number two, training exercises are

         25  in turn themselves key components of the newly
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          2  designated National Preparedness Standard and number

          3  three, implementation of this National Preparedness

          4  Standard by all organizations and including most

          5  especially those responsible for building security

          6  services will provide a strong foundation for

          7  preparedness. Clearly, better trained individuals

          8  are on the whole more likely to produce a better

          9  outcome, not only for themselves, but the building,

         10  its tenants and surrounding neighborhood.

         11                 Finally, the International Center for

         12  Enterprise Preparedness stands ready to work with

         13  the City Council in forwarding preparedness efforts

         14  or research in this important area. Thank you for

         15  your time.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you all

         17  for coming down. It was very enlightening the

         18  testimony of all three of you.  We'll be using that

         19  in amending our resolution especially that National

         20  Preparedness Standard which I'll get to a moment.

         21  Ms. Noonan, you testified that training standards

         22  need not be extensive to be successful. They need to

         23  be targeted, testing, endorsed by security experts.

         24  Do you support our efforts here to increase the

         25  standards that exist?
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          2                 MS. NOONAN: We've been working very

          3  closely with 32BJ in terms of their efforts and

          4  their 40 hour training program. As I said in my

          5  testimony, I think there are details particularly

          6  around cost and implementation that are still to be

          7  worked out. But the Partnership has been supportive

          8  and will continue to be supportive of the effort to

          9  upgrade the standards for professionalism in the

         10  security guard industry.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you for

         12  that. Mr. Schlanger, obviously you testified that we

         13  must require more comprehensive training and better

         14  background checks. You obviously support the efforts

         15  our resolution and our efforts?

         16                 MR. SCHLANGER: I do. I think anything

         17  that increases the training that security officers

         18  received especially in the area of prevention,

         19  detection is well worth it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Again, I can't

         21  state this enough how rare it is that we have an

         22  advisor to 9/11 Commission. We have the private

         23  sector. We have good government groups. We have the

         24  union. We have the NYPD all saying the same thing

         25  that we need better standards. We need better
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          2  qualified, better compensated workers. There is only

          3  one thing standing in our way right now and that's

          4  Albany. We need to work together on that.

          5                 Mr. Raisch, in you mentioned in

          6  National Preparedness Standard which I was not aware

          7  of, so thank you for that. How does present training

          8  and standards compare to the national standard that

          9  you mentioned?

         10                 MR. RAISCH: Present training with

         11  respect to that offered by 32BJ?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: No, no. It's

         13  important to remember, what's offered by 32BJ is not

         14  mandated. It is something they do on their own which

         15  has been commended and praised by everyone who has

         16  been involved in that program. But it is not

         17  mandated training. All that's mandated is that eight

         18  hours and then 16 hours after that on a job.

         19                 MR. RAISCH: On causal review of the

         20  eight hours, there certainly seems to be of the term

         21  more awareness level as opposed to competency based

         22  level of training. Again, the Standard we speak to

         23  really talks to the issue of general emergency

         24  preparedness which security is an important, but an

         25  element component.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We are going to

          3  be reaching out to all of you because your testimony

          4  is a big help to us in amending our resolution and

          5  working on future changes with regard to this. We

          6  have your testimony. We'll be working with you with

          7  my Counsel, Ted Baecher, we appreciate you coming

          8  down today and thank you for your time all of you.

          9                 MR. SCHLANGER: Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We now have a

         11  panel of security officers. If I mangle your names,

         12  don't be upset with me. Janice Brown, Richard

         13  Feminella, Mr. Mubarak, Rudolph Brown, Rene Sanabria

         14  and Charles Gaetan. Sergeant of Arms, we will need

         15  some more seats. Thank you. Let me introduce Council

         16  Member Helen Foster who has joined us, the Chair of

         17  our Parks Committee. Hold on for one second. Thanks.

         18  Sorry about that. I thank you all for joining us.

         19  I've been informed that each of you something that

         20  you would like to say to us and it will be about two

         21  minutes max for each of you. We appreciate you

         22  coming down today. Again, especially those who have

         23  been up for a long periods of time and we look

         24  forward to your testimony in any order you wish. You

         25  need to press the button in on the microphone. When
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          2  the light goes on, it's off or something along those

          3  lines. But I'm sure you'll be able to figure it out

          4  even without adequate training.

          5                 MR. FEMINELLA: Good morning, Mr.

          6  Chairman, members of the Committee and distinguished

          7  guests. My name is Richard Feminella. I reside in

          8  the Bronx and I work for Allied Barton Security. I

          9  was working for Barton, but Barton was bought out by

         10  Allied. So now we have to go by Allied's rules.

         11                 I've worked in the security industry

         12  for the past seven years and I've worked for

         13  numerous different companies and the problems are

         14  the same across the spectrum of any company period.

         15  My question to you, Mr. Chairman, is don't you feel

         16  safe when you walk into the office building where

         17  you work, when you see long- term security officers

         18  who are familiar with you and other building

         19  tenants? Now, would you feel just as safe if you

         20  didn't know any of the security officers when you

         21  walk in the building everyday?

         22                 A familiar face means that officer

         23  knows the site and its tenants, the people who work

         24  there. It means he or she knows what is normal, what

         25  is right and what may be a little of whack. An
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          2  officer is who familiar with the tenants and the

          3  site knows when something is wrong. The only

          4  questions is whether that officer is properly

          5  trained and knows what to do in the event of an

          6  emergency.

          7                 At my work site, there are

          8  approximately 40 officers. Within the past year,

          9  which I've only been working on the site for one

         10  year, within that year 34 officers have been

         11  replaced. That doesn't say much for job stability,

         12  building security or tenant safety. I do the outside

         13  patrol or exterior patrol of my building. We have to

         14  walk the entire block. So, yes, we have the whole

         15  block to patrol plus a 52 story building and a

         16  tenant building right next door.

         17                 In the last year, being that I work

         18  in the exterior, it is turned over four times. I'm

         19  the senior officer and I've only been there for one

         20  year. Another problem we have is that there is no

         21  officer booth outside. We have no where to go when

         22  its freezing cold. One day last year was one of the

         23  coldest days recorded in New York City's history.

         24  Generally, it felt like 29 degrees below zero and

         25  I'm sure everybody seen the ads in the paper with
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          2  the big 29 on the front of Daily News. In the plaza,

          3  there is a constant wind which brings the wind chill

          4  even greater and I'm out there in the freezing cold

          5  with the flu.

          6                 If I miss a day, I'm not making rent.

          7  I have no benefits for the exception of what's

          8  called ADD or accidental death and dismemberment. So

          9  if I get into a car accident, I'm covered up to

         10  $10,000 if I lose a leg. I also have a life

         11  insurance for me and my son. Me up to $10,000 and my

         12  son up to $5,000. There is no difference between the

         13  company's health coverage and me paying out of my

         14  pocket to go to a clinic. That really has something

         15  to say if you don't have a guard booth for people

         16  who are working outdoors.

         17                 Another problem we have is the lack

         18  of equipment. The blackout of 2003 (sic), is a

         19  perfect example. We were all wondering what we were

         20  going to do because we didn't have a supply of

         21  flashlights. The most basic of equipment for a

         22  security officer. The only flashlight that was there

         23  was a lantern which belonged to the management

         24  company we weren't allowed to touch. They only went

         25  through the property once with that lantern all
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          2  night. Other than the lantern, we were patrolling

          3  the exterior with no lights except maybe the

          4  emergency lighting that was coming out of the

          5  building from the emergency generators.

          6                 Bally's is one of the stores in the

          7  facility where I am. It has an entrance I normally

          8  patrol and we were told not to patrol it that night.

          9  I walked in there just to see what it was. You could

         10  touch the palm of your hand on your nose and still

         11  not see your hand. That's how dark it was. But yet

         12  we still didn't have any flash lights. It's now a

         13  year later or over a year later and we still don't

         14  have a supply of flashlights. As a matter of fact,

         15  they want us to buy our own out of our own pocket

         16  and not even be reimbursed for it.

         17                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: Mr. Feminella, you

         18  need to finish up.

         19                 MR. FEMINELLA: Okay. Really quickly

         20  about bomb threats. We receive very little training

         21  in that. Most of it is memo's. Basically we're told

         22  to report and run if we see anything. Recently, we

         23  were told about how terrorists will take cans or

         24  bottles and have vapor fluid go through exterior

         25  vents. Again, we're told to report and run. But
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          2  we're suppose to be protecting people. How are we

          3  protecting if all we're doing is reporting and

          4  running?

          5                 I'm just going to get to the end

          6  right here because I have it written down. I'm sure

          7  you can get a copy of the writing. I'm sorry, I'm a

          8  page off. Again, I said I've been doing security for

          9  several companies and in the industry definitely

         10  needs improvement. I'm not here to complain about

         11  what I want or complain even what I need to do my

         12  job. I'm just a humble servant to the City of New

         13  York trying to do -- I'm sorry. Trying to do my part

         14  no matter how small -- I'm sorry, sir. -- Or

         15  seemingly insignificant to the individual. I'm just

         16  trying to do my part to help keep the City safe. I

         17  am here, however, to inform you what my job is and

         18  how you, Mr. Chairman, and the members of this

         19  distinguished Committee on Public Safety can help

         20  bring awareness to the public on the importance of

         21  private security and the tools our industry

         22  desperately needs to help this awesome City be safe

         23  and secure as possible. Thank you for your time and

         24  God bless.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Mr.

                                                            88

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  Feminella. Just be aware, all of you, your elected

          3  representatives in New York City, we do appreciate

          4  the job you're doing out there to keep us safe. The

          5  next person, please. Again, you have about two

          6  minutes.

          7                 MS. BROWN: Good morning, Mr.

          8  Councilman, members of the Committee and

          9  distinguished guests. My name is Janice Brown. I'm a

         10  resident of Harlem, New York. I have worked for

         11  Classic Security for a year and a half. I work at 14

         12  Wall Street. At 14 Wall Street, we have many

         13  prominent businesses like the New York Stock

         14  Exchange. We have Skidmore, Owemings and Merrill, to

         15  name a few and also our buildings are landmark which

         16  is also a target for attack.

         17                 One of the things that really concern

         18  me in performing my responsibilities, which is to

         19  protect persons and properties is our lack of safety

         20  devices and turnstiles to control pedestrian traffic

         21  that flows in and out of the building throughout the

         22  day. I'm assigned to man the lobby post. When I work

         23  with three other officers, we are assigned to check

         24  identification and direct guests to their

         25  destination. Basically I ask tenants to show their
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          2  ID's to find out where the guests are coming, direct

          3  them to where they need to go.

          4                 Now when they come to the desk, I

          5  check the computer to make sure that they are

          6  registered. If they're registered, I send them

          7  upstairs. If they're not, then you have to call the

          8  tenant and they have to be put into the computer

          9  system. What happens is that a lot of times that

         10  they're not registered, which means that we get a

         11  backlog, which means that one of the guards have to

         12  come off their post to help put the tenants names in

         13  which is a dangerous situation because someone at

         14  that time might get in the building. Because we're

         15  trying to get the guest in. There's only person to

         16  control the in and out traffic in the building at

         17  the time.

         18                 Also, we have to check packages, make

         19  sure that packages that are leaving the building are

         20  authorized. Make sure the packages coming in the

         21  building are going where they are supposed to be

         22  going. The problem we find out is that it is very

         23  difficult to do that when you got one person just

         24  controlling in and out traffic. We are finding out

         25  during the day, we are 500 or 600 guests and with
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          2  three people manning the lobby, it's kind of hard

          3  because we are trying to control that and we're a

          4  big tourist area so that kind of puts us in a

          5  predicament of trying to control traffic, but also

          6  keep the tenants safe.

          7                 Me and my fellow officers, we take

          8  our jobs seriously beyond the point of my personal

          9  security and whatnot. We're looking to protect the

         10  persons and the property there.

         11                 The turnover rate in the building

         12  that's been a really big problem for us. On average,

         13  an officer might stay two or three weeks on our job.

         14  That means by the time the officer is trained on the

         15  security procedures, how to run the computer,

         16  they're gone for one reason or another. That also

         17  puts the tenants in a flux because one minute they

         18  see a guard. They're getting used to the guard and

         19  the guard is getting used to them. Next minute the

         20  guard is gone. They don't know what to expect week

         21  to week now.

         22                 Also, by them not knowing the

         23  emergency techniques, they don't know if something

         24  happens, say somebody gets stuck in an elevator, who

         25  they are supposed to call, what they're supposed to
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          2  do. The police come in the building. What the

          3  protocol of getting the stuff on reference to, what

          4  elevators go where, where is the emergency keys.

          5  Those are the things that a lot of new guards don't

          6  know. A lot of us, we just want better training so

          7  that we can protect ourselves. Not only that, but

          8  the people that we see and come to know on a day to

          9  day basis. So if an emergency arises, we're able to

         10  step up to the occasion and take care of that along

         11  with coordinating with the police officers and

         12  different emergency crews. I just want to say thank

         13  you for your time this morning.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you for

         15  your testimony. Those who are still waiting to

         16  testify, again, we have two minutes. Try to edit

         17  what you have to say. I don't want to be rude. But

         18  we only have the room for another hour and there are

         19  two more panels. I want to make sure everybody gets

         20  a chance to be heard and be questioned. Thank you.

         21  Who's next?

         22                 MR. AHMED: Good morning, Mr. Chairman

         23  of the Committee, and distinguished guests. My name

         24  is Mubarak Ahmed and I am resident of Brooklyn for

         25  the last 15 years. I work as a security officer at
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          2  95 Wall Street, for the last eight years for Top

          3  Guard and OSC Security.

          4                 After the 9/11 terrorist attack on

          5  New York, one would naturally think that security

          6  standards and training would be increased to deal

          7  with the new threats. That has not happened. I have

          8  not received any new training despite the fact that

          9  everyone knows how important it is to improve

         10  security measures in the country and especially in

         11  New York City.

         12                 Nothing has been done to upgrade the

         13  security training in my building. As a private

         14  security officer, I'm the first responder to any

         15  emergency in my building. I put my life on the line

         16  every day to keep my building and tenants safe and

         17  secure. I do this without any additional training to

         18  handle bomb threats, anthrax and building evacuation

         19  procedures. Since 9/11, they tell us to check for

         20  suspicious packages, but they don't give us any

         21  training on how to do that.

         22                 For example, my company gave us auto

         23  checkers with flashlights and told us to check for

         24  car bombs. When any vehicle comes into the building

         25  garage, we have to look under the vehicle, turn on
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          2  the flashlight and check to see if there is a bomb

          3  attached to the vehicle.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: And you've

          5  received no training in how to identify those bombs?

          6                 MR. AHMED: To be very honest, neither

          7  I nor anyone else I have spoken with can tell a

          8  difference between a bomb, a muffler or a

          9  transmission. I do not have sufficient in bomb

         10  detection or automotive science to be able to tell

         11  the difference. In order to do this type of job

         12  right and to stay on the job, I need to get the

         13  proper training and reasonable wages and respect for

         14  my work.

         15                 In my opinion more training for

         16  security officers should mean a more valuable

         17  employee. One who is better equipped to handle the

         18  new threats to public safety. For the security

         19  officers, more training will mean we can do the job

         20  better, that we will be more valued employee and

         21  that we will more dedicated to the job and will stay

         22  on the job longer. The companies want to keep

         23  fooling you and the public that we are safe just so

         24  they can save money.

         25                 Too many companies just pick up

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  anyone from off the street and put them in a uniform

          3  or a suit to fill up the post. Tenants see the suit

          4  and the tie and they are led to believe that these

          5  people are trained and equipped to do the job which

          6  is not true. Mr. Chairman, the scary truth is that

          7  many security officers get little or no training.

          8  Some companies sometimes do not even do background

          9  checks. There is something wrong with all of this

         10  and I hope that you can help to put things right.

         11                 In closing, I would like to add that

         12  I believe in providing the tenants in the building

         13  the best possible protection that I can. I just need

         14  to be better equipped to be able to handle the new

         15  threats that I face at work everyday.

         16                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: Thank you, Mr.

         17  Mubarak. I just want to clarify and we all laughed

         18  and it was very funny that you can't tell the

         19  difference between a bomb and a muffler. But we all

         20  understand the seriousness of that. We've been very

         21  lucky up to now that the fact that our officers have

         22  not been trained in identifying explosives has not

         23  led to the loss of a life yet.

         24                 MR. AHMED: I understand.

         25                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: I'm sure we didn't
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          2  mean to convey that we don't believe that's serious.

          3                 MR. AHMED: We put our head inside the

          4  vehicle and we turn on the light. We check maybe

          5  1,000. There is one vehicle which have the bomb and

          6  we would pick up from that vehicle under the pipe.

          7  That's it. This is a risk.

          8                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: I'm going to ask

          9  some questions as soon as everyone is done. Thank

         10  you.

         11                 MR. AHMED: Okay, thank you.

         12                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: Next please.

         13                 MR. BROWN: Good morning. My name is

         14  Rudolph Brown and I work for Guardsmark Security for

         15  three and a half years and I have been assigned to

         16  111 8th Avenue for approximately a year and a half

         17  and I work the evening shift.

         18                 My responsibilities include

         19  monitoring the fire safety panel and to evacuate the

         20  building in a case of fire or other emergency

         21  conditions. I'm also responsible for making sure

         22  that the fire suppression system is operable and

         23  that the fire safety doors, sprinklers, and other

         24  equipment are in compliance with the New York City

         25  Fire Safety Codes.
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          2                 The concerns I would like to share

          3  with you this morning have more to do with the

          4  industry's lack of professionalization, including

          5  worker benefits. For instance, I have no dental, no

          6  vision benefits. I have no sick days or bereavement

          7  time. If I get the flu, I lose a whole week of pay.

          8  I have no time off and no personal days. It's hard

          9  for me to do my work to the best of my abilities

         10  when I am worried about losing my pay when I'm sick.

         11                 Lately, I have seen a lot of security

         12  officers checking vehicles for bombs. In a lot of

         13  these buildings, they give guards low salaries and

         14  expect them to do work they were never trained for.

         15  The way security is handled in most buildings in New

         16  York City, there is no way we as a City, can be safe

         17  much less secure. Basically, the buildings

         18  surrounding the building where I work are staffed

         19  with low wage, under trained security officers.

         20                 There is no way our City can be safe

         21  if some buildings are safer than the others. You

         22  have to maintain a certain level of integrity when

         23  it comes to building security. One building cannot

         24  be safer than the other. If that's the case, the

         25  threat will move from one building to the next and
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          2  eventually the threat will end up at the building

          3  which is most vulnerable.

          4                 The lack of training of security

          5  officers is definitely a problem. I feel that we

          6  need a higher standard amount of training with

          7  additional mandatory training hours in securing life

          8  and property. After the attacks on New York City,

          9  there is no way the current mandated level of

         10  training in the Security Guard Act of 1992 can be

         11  enough to safe guard our City. It is incumbent on

         12  our elected officials and particularly the members

         13  of this Committee to find a solution to the security

         14  problem in New York. Thank you very much for the

         15  opportunity to share my concerns with you this

         16  morning.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thanks. I

         18  believe we have one more.

         19                 MR. GAETAN: Yes. Esteemed

         20  politicians, police officer and fellow security

         21  officers, my name is Charles Gaetan. I work for

         22  Spartan Security. I have approximately five years

         23  experience. I realize we are gathered here today for

         24  the advancement of safety and security of our great

         25  nation. However, active participation security field

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  is needed by everyone.

          3                 New York City Police Department and

          4  the newly formed Homeland Security Agency are in the

          5  process of training as we are now learning today.

          6  Now my present client location is Pfizer. I have the

          7  responsibility of overseeing billions of dollars in

          8  City payroll. Any person who is here now who works

          9  for the City will be watched over by myself. I am

         10  that front line solider against terrorism. If you

         11  receive a City paycheck, it is my responsibility to

         12  keep it safe in cyber space from temporary

         13  disruption. I'm pretty sure that's important to all

         14  of you.

         15                 Now do I need training? Yes, I do.

         16  From myself and to protect your paychecks. Do I

         17  deserve health coverage? Yes, I do. I'm working hard

         18  for the increased benefits, yes, and so are my

         19  fellow security officers. Today, I am a working

         20  parent and security is therefore important to me.

         21  Therefore, I say, give me the self- esteem that

         22  comes with a decent paycheck. Give us the

         23  contentment that comes with health coverage and

         24  gives us a 32BJ union guard.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you all
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          2  and again we do appreciate the work you do everyday

          3  to keep us safe. Mr. Mubarak gave us an example of

          4  something he has faced and not been trained for. You

          5  didn't go yet? I'm going to finish my question and

          6  then we'll get to you. He has faced an incident that

          7  he has not been trained for. Can anyone up there

          8  give us another example of an incident they have

          9  faced whether it be a substance or some other sort

         10  of threat to the building? Maybe someone coming in

         11  that you did not feel you had adequate training for.

         12                 MR. GAETAN: I particularly had an

         13  incident that we had a package outside the building

         14  and I didn't know what it was. I immediately spoke

         15  to the engineer. I spoke to the desk security

         16  officer. We both agreed that we would have to call

         17  the bomb squad, in which they did. I never touched

         18  the package. When I spoke to one of the bomb

         19  experts, he said it's a good thing you didn't touch

         20  the package to see what it was. I knew that because

         21  it might have a motion detector. Now I didn't have

         22  training. But I watch a lot of TV. I knew not to

         23  touch it because if it did have a motion detector,

         24  bye, bye. So he came along. It was just books.

         25                 However, he said it was smart of you
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          2  to think that way and not like some people do, let

          3  me see what it is. And other people, oh, it looks

          4  like books. Don't touch it. Sometimes common sense

          5  helps. But that was just because of TV. But if I had

          6  better training, it could be fine. I've had the

          7  unfortunate demise of thinking that a bomb was in my

          8  presence. Of course, I kept my distance around the

          9  corner and let the bomb squad people do their thing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you. Would

         11  anybody else like to be heard on a threat they

         12  faced? I'm sorry. You may start your statement.

         13                 MS. SANABRIA: Good morning, Mr.

         14  Chairman and members of the Committee. My name is

         15  Rene Sanabria and I work at Rockefeller Center. I've

         16  work there for the last 30 years. I have been

         17  trained in the 16 hour course for security and every

         18  year we go for an eight hour refresher course where

         19  we speak about the State regulations and how it

         20  involves my job and the performance. I've also been

         21  taught how to be aware of the surroundings in my

         22  building to make sure you know who the tenants are

         23  and what are they're particular ways and habits. To

         24  make sure if something out of the ordinary happens,

         25  you would notice it.
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          2                 I've also been trained on the fire

          3  command panel; how to respond to the alarm in the

          4  building; what announcements to make to the people.

          5  I've also been trained on the defibrillator and also

          6  on the CPR. I think those are important features the

          7  security guard must know because you must instill in

          8  the tenant the fact that they can feel secure and

          9  safe in their environment. Unlike my fellow co-

         10  workers here, I am unionized and I feel I have

         11  received the proper training through my company and

         12  through the union.

         13                 Through this Committee, I hope that

         14  you can do something so my fellow members don't have

         15  that insecurity of being unsafe and not getting the

         16  proper benefits or pay or wages. Because I pride

         17  myself in doing the job I do and I think I do it

         18  well. I know these men and ladies do the same thing.

         19  But they lack the funding, the benefits and the

         20  determination to do a good job. With your help this

         21  morning, we hope that can be accomplished. I thank

         22  you for your time.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Thank you, Mr.

         24  Sanabria. I think that's very important. You are

         25  part of the union and you are the only one up there,
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          2  I assume, that is part of the union and you feel

          3  that you've been adequately trained --

          4                 MR. SANABRIA: Yes, I have.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: -- Through a

          6  voluntary program which is not mandated by State

          7  law. Correct?

          8                 MR. SANABRIA: Yes, sir I have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We are going to

         10  stay in contact with you through your union as we

         11  work on this. Again, we have a few more panels that

         12  we need to move. So I'm not going to ask any

         13  questions now. But let me tell you how much we

         14  appreciate you coming down. I am positive they don't

         15  give training in testifying and this is not an easy

         16  thing to do. Thank you all for coming down and

         17  because what you said today will help us to protect

         18  people in the future. So thank you.

         19                 Our next person who will be

         20  testifying is Bo Dietl who is the Chair of the New

         21  York Security Board Advisory Counsel. This is a

         22  board which is set up by the Security Guard Act of

         23  1992. Many of you will recognize him from his many

         24  TV appearances. We look forward to your testimony.

         25                 MR. DIETL: Good afternoon, Mr.
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          2  Chairman. Thank you for having us down here. Let me

          3  tell you about first of all what position I hold as

          4  far an appointed position by Governor Pataki. I'm

          5  the Chairman of the New York State Security Guard

          6  Advisory Counsel. Being the Chairman of the Counsel,

          7  we oversee all types of legislation and also any

          8  kind of fines against corporations, security

          9  corporations and in that we have trials.

         10                 In New York State, we have over

         11  104,000 licensed security guards. I have a prepared

         12  speech about the problem I think that we're here

         13  about. And I totally agree with everyone I heard

         14  talk about today and talk about the situation with

         15  the security guards. I totally agree with everybody

         16  who has spoken today, including the Police

         17  Department. I also like to introduce John Cutter

         18  (phonetic) on my left. He just retired Friday from

         19  the New York City Police Department. He was the

         20  Chief of the Intelligence and Terrorism on the New

         21  York City Police Department. He was a Deputy Chief

         22  in charge of that. He retired. He now has become the

         23  President of my company.

         24                 While I look upon this two different

         25  ways is I sit as the Chairman of the Security
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          2  Advisory Committee, but I also own a security

          3  company. I see both sides of this very well. A lot

          4  of people don't realize that 9/11, there were over

          5  40 security guards who perished in 9/11. Everyone

          6  was on the day with the fireman, my fellow policeman

          7  that I used to be New York City detective. Everyone

          8  was on it. The emergency service workers. I finally

          9  put together a Senator Maltese also, Senator Bowboni

         10  to put together a proclamation by the New York State

         11  Senate which we honored these 40 plus security

         12  guards. Where we actually set up a fund where we put

         13  educational funds put aside for the children of

         14  these people.

         15                 A lot of people don't understand what

         16  the problem really is at hand here. It comes down to

         17  dollars and cents. It's dollars and cents to the

         18  fact that every time there is a security contract

         19  that's out there, I don't care if we get the best

         20  trained people in the world, it comes down to

         21  dollars and cents. You've got people at the Empire

         22  State Building where the job was bidded at $11.50 an

         23  hour. That means the man would make minimum wage.

         24  When take the FICA out, when you take the insurance

         25  out, that's what you're getting. I think the thing
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          2  that the City Council has to realize where we could

          3  talk about all training all we want, we have to

          4  realize what at hand here is the whole perception of

          5  people who own buildings. People come down to the

          6  bottom line. Dollars and cents. Who can get me the

          7  best bid and who can get the cheaper bid. As I said,

          8  I wanted to read this into the record.

          9                 Are you really secure? I prepared

         10  this for the Wall Street Journal. Immediately

         11  following the horrors of September 11, 2001, demand

         12  for increased security more than tripled beyond

         13  anyone's expectations. The public's demand for a

         14  safer environment reached out to private security

         15  companies nationwide to help reduce and to relieve

         16  the anxieties. Virtually, every commercial

         17  building's operational plan had been rewritten.

         18  Security initiatives were designed to identify

         19  vulnerabilities and recommendations to deter future

         20  attacks.

         21                 Property owners and managers demanded

         22  risk assessments to be authored and followed.

         23  Courses of action included a strong line of defense

         24  at all entry points. Lobby security right after 9/11

         25  was to be with armed personnel, retired cops who
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          2  could deal with a situation if it comes to that

          3  lobby. It was no longer possible to access a

          4  building by just signing in a visitors log. Policies

          5  and procedures were customized to include access

          6  screening, verification, including employee parking

          7  garages. Officers were instructed to inspect all

          8  entering vehicles. Vehicle inspections were focused

          9  on potential explosives. Photo identification,

         10  magnetometers, personal property, x- ray machines

         11  for mail, hand held screening devices and explosive

         12  detection canines played a critical role in reducing

         13  fear. This is right after 9/11 in the work place.

         14                 Personal property including

         15  backpacks, laptop cases and the like would raise a

         16  level of confrontation by armed officers in the

         17  lobby. Armed perimeter patrols were added to

         18  identify anything out of the norm. Stronger

         19  communication between security and local authorities

         20  was visible. But that was 2001/2002. Since then, an

         21  incident free environment demands for private

         22  security officers have been greatly reduced if not

         23  completely eliminated. Unarmed officers have

         24  replaced armed officers. It is not common for

         25  companies once budgeting millions of dollars for
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          2  security to reduce security and safety related

          3  expenses by over 50 percent or more.

          4                 Major companies once eager to pay $18

          5  to $20 per hour for experienced, trained

          6  professional security officers are now negotiating

          7  costs between the $12 and $14 hour range. It is not

          8  uncommon today that security contract negotiations

          9  are focused more on dollars than real security

         10  concerns. Security expenses today must be considered

         11  a cost of doing business. Those lower bill rates

         12  translate to an officer receiving a ridiculous $7 to

         13  $10 an hour, slightly higher than an entry level

         14  clerk at most fast food establishments. And yet,

         15  private security companies are mandated to staff

         16  facilities with highly motivated individuals who are

         17  willing to give up their lives to protect their

         18  buildings and their companies.

         19                 Further, exasper -- what's that

         20  word?

         21                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Exacerbation

         22                 MR. DIETL: -- Further making the

         23  situation worse, this situation is an industry that

         24  is plagued with too many security firms signing

         25  contracts that call for labor rates just above the
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          2  minimum wage. Multi-national security companies

          3  whose business philosophy is based upon the number

          4  of accounts and billable hours and not the delivery

          5  of a quality security guard. A number of these so

          6  called big companies are focused more on enormous

          7  billing numbers for future IPO offerings. Whatever

          8  happen to the customer satisfaction and retention?

          9  The old adage, you get what you pay for.

         10                 Case in point on Sunday, August 1,

         11  2004, the government elevated the threat to orange

         12  code, a significant risk of terrorist attacks. In

         13  response, security companies were once again

         14  contacted to review, recommend and increase the

         15  physical security to specific addresses. The focus

         16  must be to strengthen the capabilities of a

         17  terrorist event. Everyday forward, measures needed

         18  to be identified, acquire, and plan the use of other

         19  resources. We go on and on with this. But the main

         20  part of I think me coming up here and trying to talk

         21  to you, Mr. Chairman, is to understand. I understand

         22  what the union wants to do here. I understand what

         23  you want to do. But we have State regulations.

         24                 I proposed to the State legislature

         25  years ago to put in effect a 50 hour training course

                                                            109

          1  COMMITTEE ON PUBLIC SAFETY

          2  for these fine security officers to go out and do

          3  the 50 hours. Once they get it, they should get a

          4  certification where the certification says that they

          5  have gone through this 50 hours whether it be life

          6  saving and everything else. Where they would have to

          7  get a minimum salary to the men, not counting

          8  benefits, of $12.00. They should be made

          9  professional and that's what the problem here is.

         10  They're not getting the salary to take care of their

         11  families and they're working all these hours and I

         12  do feel for them. I consider these people out here

         13  really and the people that work for me being real

         14  heroes to the City and to the building owners.

         15                 The only people that are making the

         16  money are the people who own the buildings. The

         17  people making the money off the damn rents and these

         18  people here who are working for $7, $8 an hour and

         19  they expect them to be a fine security guard and

         20  they're not even properly trained. That's your

         21  problem at hand. So, if you're going to get to the

         22  core of this problem, Mr. Chairman, you have to get

         23  to the real estate owners. You've got to have people

         24  there and if you want to, you can pass legislation

         25  here for this City that a fully trained security
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          2  guard and I'll help you put together a program,

          3  where a fully trained security guard has to get a

          4  minimum in his pocket at the end of the week of the

          5  $12.00. Let him be respectful when he comes home

          6  that he has a real job. That's he's protecting life

          7  and property for people in this City. I think that's

          8  the most important fact that I want to present

          9  today.

         10                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Dietl. Good to see you again. I don't believe we've

         12  worked together since Court TV. Right? It was

         13  separate parts of the country, but on the same

         14  screen. Now I remember.

         15                 MR. DIETL: Mr. Chairman, again and

         16  John Cutter as I said is the newly retired Chief of

         17  the New York City Police Department on Friday. He

         18  overseen all the intelligence with the terrorism and

         19  all that and he was the Chief  of the whole

         20  Department there. He's pretty up on all the

         21  terrorism aspects as far as the threat today and the

         22  vulnerability of these buildings and also we've got

         23  to remember all these public places of interest in

         24  New York City is very important.

         25                 CHAIRMAN VALLONE: You mentioned
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          2  something about legislation and that's important.

          3  What's happening is the State has barred us from

          4  doing any legislation because they've acted in this

          5  area and that preempts us. What my resolution which

          6  will be supported by the majority of the Council

          7  calls for is for the State to either implement the

          8  changes that I think we all agree on or give us the

          9  permission to legislate our own tougher standards. I

         10  assume based on your testimony you agree with our

         11  efforts to ask for that and to increase the

         12  standards.

         13                 MR. DIETL: I'm here today in 100

         14  percent agreement. But I think the cure for this is

         15  the obvious cure where you get a professional

         16  security guard that gets a minimum wage after he

         17  goes through the full training (he or she, excuse

         18  me), of the full training of what's suppose to be

         19  there. And they could wear a special patch on their

         20  arm that they are that qualified person. Whether it

         21  be with saving, what do you call that stuff where

         22  you go, boom, boom, boom?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: CPR.

         24                 MR. DIET: Yes, CPR, that stuff. You

         25  could put together a class of security guards, but
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          2  then the people that hire them have to understand

          3  they're going to pay more money because whether

          4  they're in the union or not, they're going to pay

          5  that extra amount. But you're going to get a

          6  security person that is going to be capable of being

          7  a security person. We have a program called Cat Eyes

          8  that we give our guys and ladies. What it is, is to

          9  identify somebody. If you see a strange person

         10  sitting in a car outside a building, look at the

         11  license plate. Know what state that license plate.

         12  Look at the description of a person. Fat face,

         13  beard, gray, losing my hair, 5'8", about 200 pounds

         14  where you can write down and give the police a real

         15  good description of the person who was in that

         16  building.

         17                 That's part of being aware and that's

         18  so important for the security guard to be aware of

         19  what's going on. Because I know darn well one of

         20  these security guards could certainly save a

         21  building or lives in this City if they are able to

         22  observe somebody who is going cause harm to this

         23  City and react to it and call the proper police

         24  authorities and then have an interaction with the

         25  police. I saw two fellows in the car and they were
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          2  writing things down. They were taking pictures and

          3  here is the license plate. It was an old 1984 Ford

          4  and this is so important to give the person the

          5  money and have the capability to be that security

          6  officer that we all could be proud of everybody in

          7  this room.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I think we all

          9  agree and we're glad to have you with us on that.

         10  But here's my confusion. Correct me if I'm wrong.

         11  You are the Chair of the New York State Security

         12  Guard Advisory Counsel.

         13                 MR. DIETL: Appointed by Pataki, yes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Appointed by

         15  Pataki, to advise Pataki on these matters that we

         16  discussing today.

         17                 MR. DIETL: No, it was a counsel that

         18  was put in with the Security Guard Act of 1992, and

         19  the counsel was put together as far as to bring

         20  ideas together and we have a meeting two times a

         21  year and all these issues come up and we also sit on

         22  any kind of problems in the industry.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: The reason

         24  you're bringing those ideas up is to advise the

         25  legislature and Pataki on what potential changes
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          2  needs to be made.

          3                 MR. DIETL: The problem here is every

          4  time that I do some kind of advice to the counsel, I

          5  get one of these even though I'm chairman. It's out

          6  of your realm. You have to go through the

          7  legislature as far as getting some State senators

          8  and some assemblymen. I think here is the answer.

          9  We've got to get a gang of State senators and gang

         10  of assemblymen or women or State senator people and

         11  you get them together. Start them to put a proposal

         12  up to the legislature up in Albany. Because let's

         13  face it. We're a City. We've run by a State.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: I can do that. I

         15  can do that. I don't mean to disparage you in any

         16  way, but I can do that without this counsel that is

         17  set up to advise Pataki. We would like for that

         18  counsel to tell Pataki what to do. We'll take care

         19  of the legislature and the people we work with

         20  everyday. Isn't that the focus of your counsel to

         21  advise Pataki?

         22                 MR. DIETL: No, see that's the

         23  guidelines. They made this counsel and the counsel

         24  has such narrow guidelines for what we can do. I

         25  wish it could be done. As sitting as the Chairman, I
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          2  propose this every time we have a meeting. And they

          3  go, well the Deputy Secretary of State there. Well,

          4  Bo, you're out of your realm of what the security

          5  guard counsel was formed for. That's the problem

          6  that I face.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: So what exactly

          8  were you formed for then? To have meetings every

          9  couple of weeks?

         10                 MR. DIETL: No, if there is any

         11  disciplinary actions. If they're suppose to go

         12  through this training and people are not sending the

         13  people or giving the certificates and not sending

         14  through the training, we sit on a disciplinary

         15  counsel to go after them people.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We suppose your

         17  efforts to change the focus of the counsel and give

         18  it additional power so that you can actually use it

         19  to advise some of the people up there that we need

         20  these changes.

         21                 MR. DIETL: That's what I thought the

         22  job was when I took it. But it ain't the job.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: That's what I

         24  thought it was when I read about it. So we're both

         25  mistaken. I don't have any further questions at this
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          2  point. But we will absolutely work with you in the

          3  future on this.

          4                 MR. DIETL: Is there anything you

          5  could do as far as being the City Council to put

          6  some kind of a proposal up for, you know we have the

          7  bids out there and all these security bids. Why

          8  can't they put together a certain -- we'll put our

          9  own security training together. We'll agree on it.

         10  We'll bring experts in. Why can't we have them

         11  people available where a security guard can have

         12  that expertise as being a New York City special

         13  security officer? Something like that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: Great minds

         15  think a like, I guess. That's exactly what we're all

         16  trying to do here. Allow the City to set its own

         17  standards to require training such as provided by

         18  32BJ. Such as the Police Department provides. Such

         19  as you're discussing. That we be allowed to require

         20  that of our officers and they hopefully get them

         21  paid for the expertise they have. We look forward to

         22  working with you on any additional ideas that you

         23  have in that regard. Thank you for coming down

         24  today. I know you're a busy man.

         25                 MR. DIETL: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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          2  Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON VALLONE: We've received a

          4  list of additional union members, maybe about seven

          5  who may wish to testify. I'm not sure if that still

          6  is the case. If you wish to testify, please come up

          7  again. We're going to limit it to one minute if you

          8  do wish to testify. And the names that were given to

          9  me were Dwayne Chandler, Wilburn Duncan, Felix

         10  Malave, William Castro, Andres Davoren, Chester

         11  Moore and Roderick Abod. If you do not wish to

         12  testify, that is fine. You can always provide us

         13  with testimony or contact us at any point. It looks

         14  like we've decided not to. I thank you for that

         15  because we are going to be thrown out of this room

         16  soon.

         17                 Again, that will conclude the

         18  testimony at this hearing. Let me commend everyone

         19  of you that's taken the time to come down here and

         20  testify and be part of this hearing to make your

         21  voices heard, we look forward to working with all of

         22  you. We all, as your representatives, thank you for

         23  the job you do. The underpaid and the undertrained

         24  job you do everyday to keep us safe. Thank you all.

         25  Now you can clap. It's over. Thanks.
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          2                 (Meeting adjourned at 12:20 p.m.)

          3                 (Following written testimony was read

          4  into the record.)

          5

          6  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          7  Wilburn Duncan

          8  CEO

          9  Gold Security Guard Services

         10

         11                 Brian Kates, Daily News Staff Writer

         12  wrote a stunning article on Sunday June 30, 2002 on

         13  page 29 of the Daily News entitled "State targets

         14  shady guards". He named 21 Security Guard companies

         15  that were fined or had their licenses revoked for

         16  allegedly employing ex- cons, grifters and thugs.

         17  According to the article, "State investigators found

         18  no wrong doing on behalf of the government officials

         19  but conceded that unscrupulous security companies,

         20  which pay their guards only a few dollars above

         21  minimum wage, are encouraged to cut corners by the

         22  states policy of hiring the lowest bidder". "Cutting

         23  corners" as it was called then is still alive and

         24  well in New York State today. Contracts are still

         25  being awarded to the lowest bidder, if the language
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          2  (requirements) in the RFP's is changed to allow

          3  smaller companies to meaningfully compete and win

          4  some of these contracts, the standard and level of

          5  guards will improve. In its present form the

          6  language (requirements) of the RFP's is slanted

          7  towards large companies.

          8                 In this age of Terrorism and

          9  heightened security we need reform at all levels in

         10  the security industry. This should include some

         11  changes in bidding policy, the ability to identify

         12  and ostracize fake security companies, fake training

         13  schools and fake documents. We should effectively,

         14  efficiently and vigorously police security guard

         15  companies and security guard training schools to

         16  make sure they are legal, legitimate and performing

         17  the proper functions thus improving the image of the

         18  security industry of which we are all part of.

         19                 Many organizations have signs hanging

         20  outside declaring to the public their businesses. I

         21  hope at the conclusion of this hearing a body or

         22  group be put in place to ensure these firms pass the

         23  sniff test. I have been training security guards

         24  since 1997 and many times I get calls from some of

         25  the people I have trained saying "this guy is hiring
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          2  me but he wants to know what paper work he must

          3  have." My response would be "are you sure that is a

          4  security company?" The answer is always "yes, he has

          5  an office and I saw the ad in the papers." This

          6  behavior is becoming the norm rather than the

          7  exception because there is lax enforcement within

          8  the security industry.

          9                 Having said that, let us not paint

         10  every company with the same brush. There are many

         11  good security companies and security guard training

         12  schools out there doing the right thing, but all of

         13  our efforts are overshadowed by the few reckless,

         14  greedy operatives whose primary aim is personal

         15  aggrandizement at the expense of the security

         16  profession, the security industry, the public (that

         17  expect us to protect them) and the country.

         18                 There are training schools and

         19  security companies blossoming like mushrooms within

         20  New York State, (here today gone tomorrow). The

         21  modus operandi of these fly-by-nighters is grabbing

         22  as much as they can, disappearing, relocating or

         23  reopening under a different name. I have heard

         24  horror stories of people registering for classes at

         25  some schools, depositing non- refundable fees, upon
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          2  securing the remainder of the fees said school

          3  issues a certificate on the spot. Some have gone so

          4  far to even issue Fire Guard certificates from their

          5  schools, when we know only the NYC Fire Department

          6  can issue such certificates after someone scores 70

          7  percent and above on the examination administered by

          8  the Fire Department.

          9                 These are some of the people we have

         10  employed at critical City locations. Subsequently,

         11  illegal aliens, convicted criminals, members from

         12  Al- Qaida sleeper cells can easily infiltrate

         13  sensitive, critical City and State locations armed

         14  with fake certificates hired by fake companies.

         15  Please somebody, we have to stop this nightmare.

         16                 The training manual supplied by

         17  Albany to approved training schools should be

         18  upgraded to include more on terrorism or a special

         19  section should be added as a separate subject area

         20  and approved schools go through the same procedure

         21  of subject matter and examination approval by Albany

         22  before they offer these classes to the public. I

         23  would go so far to recommend that all subject areas,

         24  anti- terrorism, crisis management, loss prevention

         25  to name a few be approved by Albany before being
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          2  taught by the approved schools.

          3                 One of the primary purposes of Albany

          4  approving training schools is that all certified

          5  security guards have uniform training. If Albany

          6  does not want to get involved with the additional

          7  training schedules, some other responsible entity

          8  (such as yours) should, with the input from the

          9  training schools and security professionals

         10  collaborate on uniform materials that should be used

         11  by all training schools for these additional

         12  training courses.

         13                 This would result in all security

         14  guards responding to any given situation in the

         15  appropriate manner. Presently if a suspicious

         16  package is discovered at a job location, some guards

         17  may cordon off that area and call the cops, some

         18  many attempt to open the package while others may

         19  attempt to surreptitiously spirit the package away

         20  to their lockers. We need all our guards to cordon

         21  off the area and call the cops who are trained to

         22  handle those situations.

         23                 Albany has put the foundations down,

         24  it is up to us to collaborate and formulate cohesive

         25  plans and strategies to ensure the private security
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          2  industry, the security guard companies, security

          3  guard training schools and the security guards keep

          4  current their overall business acumen, legitimate

          5  and appropriate levels of training, integrity and

          6  proficiency parallel to the constantly revolving

          7  state of this era of terrorism and heightened

          8  security that ha snow become part of our lives I

          9  respectfully submit that after this hearing

         10  concludes some cohesive plan is formulated. Too

         11  often we see people get together and postulate, then

         12  when the time for action comes there is nobody

         13  manning the watch. We cannot wait for 9/11 again, we

         14  have work to do. Please let us be vigilant while

         15  cauterizing the cancer among us.

         16                 (Hearing concluded at 12:20 p.m.)

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            124

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, LORI SANTOMIERI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 26th day of October 2004.
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